
Public Accounts Committee 
 

Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 3 - Senedd 

 

 

 

Meeting date: 

Tuesday, 3 February 2015  

 

Meeting time: 

09.00 

 

For further information please contact:  

Michael Kay 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565 

SeneddPAC@Assembly.Wales  

  

 

Agenda 

 

 

1 Introductions, apologies and substitutions (09:00)  

2 Papers to note (09:00-09:05) (Pages 1 - 2) 

3 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the public 

from the meeting for the following business: (09:05)   

Items 4, 6 and 7 

4 National Framework for Continuing NHS Healthcare: Briefing from the 

Wales Audit Office (09:05-09:30) (Pages 3 - 67)  

PAC(4)-04-15 Paper 1 – Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 

PAC(2)-04-15 Paper 2 – Wales Audit Office Briefing 

 

 

 

 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



5 National Framework for Continuing NHS Healthcare: Evidence Session 

1 (09:30-10:30) (Pages 68 - 72)  

Dr Andrew Goodall – Director General, Health and Social Services and Chief Executive 

of NHS Wales, Welsh Government 

Albert Heaney - Director of Social Services & Integration, Welsh Government 

Lisa Dunsford - Deputy Director, Integration, Policy and Delivery Division, Welsh 

Government 

 

PAC(4)-04-15 Paper 3 – Letter from Dr Goodall on Continuing Health Care 

6 Unscheduled Care: Update from Welsh Government (10:30-10:45) 

(Pages 73 - 74)  

PAC(4)-04-15 Paper 4 – Update from Welsh Government 

7 Managing the Impact of Welfare Reform Changes: Consideration of 

Welsh Government Response (10:45-11:00) (Pages 75 - 82)  

PAC(4)-04-15 Paper 5 – Welsh Government Response 

PAC(4)-04-15 Paper 6 – Scoping Paper 



 

Public Accounts Committee 

 

Meeting Venue: Committee Room 3 - Senedd 
 

 

  
Meeting date:  Tuesday, 27 January 2015 

 

  
Meeting time:  09.00 - 10.45 

 

  
This meeting can be viewed on Senedd TV at: 

http://senedd.tv/en/2603  

 

 

Concise Minutes: 

MeetingTitle 

   
Assembly Members:  Darren Millar AM (Chair) 

Jocelyn Davies AM 

William Graham AM 

Mike Hedges AM 

Sandy Mewies AM 

Julie Morgan AM 

Jenny Rathbone AM 

Aled Roberts AM 

 

  

   
Witnesses:  Huw Vaughan Thomas, Auditor General for Wales, Wales 

Audit Office 

   

   
Committee Staff:  Leanne Hatcher (Second Clerk) 

Kath Thomas (Deputy Clerk) 

   

 

1 Introductions, apologies and substitutions  

1.1 The Chair welcomed Members to the meeting. 

 

1.2 There were no apologies. 

 

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2



2 Papers to note  

2.1 The papers were noted. 

 

3 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the public 

from the meeting for the following business:  

3.1 The motion was agreed. 

 

4 Wales Audit Office briefing on NHS Waiting Times  

4.1 The Wales Audit Office briefed Members on their report. 

 

4.2 Following publication and consideration of the report the Committee agreed to 

take further evidence from stakeholders.  

 

4.3 The Wales Audit Office agreed to check if a breakdown of out-patients not 

attending was available. 

 

5 Glastir: Consideration of draft report  

5.1 The Committee considered the draft report on Glastir and agreed a small number 

of changes. 

 

6 Consideration of Paper on Assembly Week 2015  

6.1 The Committee considered the paper on Assembly Week 2015. 

 

Pack Page 2



Continuing NHS Healthcare – 
Follow-up Report

29 January 2015

Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cymru
Auditor General for Wales

Public Accounts Committee 
PAC(40-04-15 Paper 1

Pack Page 3

Agenda Item 4



   

Pack Page 4



The Auditor General is independent of the National Assembly and government. He examines and certifies  
the accounts of the Welsh Government and its sponsored and related public bodies, including NHS bodies.  
He also has the power to report to the National Assembly on the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with 
which those organisations have used, and may improve the use of, their resources in discharging their functions.

The Auditor General, together with appointed auditors, also audits local government bodies in Wales, conducts 
local government value for money studies and inspects for compliance with the requirements of the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2009. 

The Auditor General undertakes his work using staff and other resources provided by the Wales Audit Office,  
which is a statutory board established for that purpose and to monitor and advise the Auditor General. 

For further information please write to the Auditor General at the address above, telephone 029 2032 0500,  
email: info@wao.gov.uk, or see website www.wao.gov.uk.

© Auditor General for Wales 2015

You may re-use this publication (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium. You must re-use 
it accurately and not in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as Auditor General for Wales 
copyright and you must give the title of this publication. Where we have identified any third party copyright 
material you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned before re-use.

If you require any of our publications in an alternative format and/or language please contact us using the 
following details: Telephone 029 2032 0500, or email info@wao.gov.uk

I have prepared and published this report in accordance  
with the Government of Wales Acts 1998 and 2006. 

Steve Ashcroft delivered the work 
under the direction of Matthew Mortlock.

Huw Vaughan Thomas
Auditor General for Wales

Wales Audit Office
24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff
CF11 9LJ

Pack Page 5



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report4

Contents

 Summary 6

Recommendations 12

1 The revised CHC National Framework addresses many of the weaknesses  
in the previous version, and leadership and oversight are being strengthened 14

The revised Framework addresses many of the issues raised and  
recommendations made previously by the Auditor General and the  
Public Accounts Committee 15

Some important steps are being taken to strengthen leadership and oversight,  
and although substantial numbers of staff have received training in the revised  
Framework, there is considerable variation between health boards  18

2 There are more retrospective claims outstanding than ever before,  
and the response from some health boards has been unsatisfactory 24

The revised Framework outlines a common process for dealing with  
retrospective claims 25

The Welsh Government has set deadlines for reviewing retrospective  
claims, but the approach could lead to health boards acting in a way that  
undermines the timely processing of claims and performance monitoring 
is inadequate  27

The Powys Project reviewed as intended all claims received up to  
15 August 2010 by the deadline of 30 June 2014 although all claims  
were not completed by this date 33

The responsibility for processing the substantial number of claims received  
since 16 August 2010 now rests with the Powys Project and health boards,  
and this division of responsibility creates added complexity, and makes it more  
difficult to ensure consistency 33

The Powys Project faces an even greater challenge in processing its share  
of the claims received after 16 August 2010, and has been constrained by  
IT problems and delays in the transfer of information from health boards and  
the agreement of ongoing funding 37

Some health boards have not demonstrated that they are able to deal in a  
timely way with the claims they are responsible for, and some claimants are  
being dealt with unreasonably  38

Pack Page 6



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 5

3 Public information on CHC has been expanded but needs to be more  
accessible, there were weaknesses in the publicity of the July 2014 cut-off  
for some retrospective claims, and access to advocacy services remains  
a concern for some health boards 45

The Welsh Government has developed a range of information leaflets,  
but could do more to publicise them and make them more accessible 46

Although the Welsh Government issued various communications itself,  
the action taken by health boards to publicise the end of July 2014  
cut-off for some retrospective claims appears to have been inconsistent 48

Some health boards remain concerned about the availability and funding  
of CHC advocacy services 49

 Appendices

Appendix 1 – Summary of arrangements for dealing with retrospective claims 51

Appendix 2 – Action taken in response to the main recommendations made by  
the Auditor General and the Public Accounts Committee 52

Appendix 3 – Audit methods 55

Pack Page 7



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report6

1 Some people need care and support over an extended period, as the result of 
disability, accident or illness. Health services are free to all at the point of delivery, 
but depending upon a person’s needs or financial circumstances, they may be 
charged for services provided or funded by local authorities.

2 When assessed as having a primary health need, people are eligible for Continuing 
NHS Healthcare (CHC), which is a package of care and support that is provided to 
meet all of the assessed needs of an individual, including physical, mental health 
and personal care needs. CHC is often long term, although it can be episodic in 
nature with some people moving in and out of eligibility. Health boards reported to 
us that 5,778 people across Wales were in receipt of CHC as at 31 March 2014.

3 When someone is eligible for CHC, the NHS has responsibility for funding the full 
package of health and social care. Where the individual is living at home, the NHS 
will pay for healthcare and social care, but this does not include the costs of food, 
accommodation or general household support. Where a person is eligible for CHC 
and is in a care home, the NHS pays the care home fees, including board and 
accommodation.

4 If an individual is not eligible for CHC, they can still access a range of health and 
social care services. This can include the NHS paying for the nursing element of 
care provided to someone in a care home, known as NHS-funded nursing care. 
Health boards reported to us that 5,229 people across Wales were in receipt of 
NHS-funded nursing care as at 31 March 2014. However, for any care provided 
by social services, such as personal care and accommodation in a care home, 
a charge may be made depending on the person’s income, savings and capital 
assets. Therefore, for some people a decision that they are ineligible for CHC can 
have a significant financial impact, with care costs being paid from their savings or 
potentially from the proceeds from the sale of their home.

5 In June 2013, the Auditor General published a report on CHC1. The report 
concluded that the CHC Framework in place at that time had delivered some 
improvements, but that more needed to be done to ensure that people are dealt 
with consistently and fairly. The Public Accounts Committee issued its own report 
on this topic in December 20132. The Committee’s report concluded that equitable 
and timely access to CHC had not always been available, and this had led to some 
patients and their families feeling disenfranchised and let down by the system.

Summary

1 Implementation of the National Framework for Continuing NHS Healthcare, Auditor General for Wales, 13 June 2013
2 Implementation of the National Framework for Continuing NHS Healthcare, National Assembly for Wales, Public Accounts 

Committee, December 2013
Pack Page 8



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 7

3 All CHC expenditure figures in this report exclude any in-year adjustments to the provisions made in annual accounts for the potential 
liabilities arising from retrospective claims.

Figure 1 – CHC expenditure in Wales 2004-05 to 2013-14

Source: Wales Audit Office analysis of health boards’ annual accounts 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

CHC expenditure
(£ million)

2005-06 2006-072004-05 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14

6 The Welsh Government consulted on a revised CHC Framework between 
December 2013 and March 2014. The Welsh Government then issued a final 
version of the Framework in June 2014, for implementation from 1 October 2014.

7 The Auditor General’s June 2013 report showed that, having risen every year 
between 2004-05 and 2010-11, CHC expenditure unexpectedly fell back in 2011-12 
by 5.8 per cent3. Since 2011-12, expenditure has increased slightly but, in 2013-14, 
remained three per cent below the level reported in 2011-12 (Figure 1).

Pack Page 9



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report8

8 Having fallen back sharply in 2012-13, the number of CHC-related complaints 
received by the Public Service Ombudsman for Wales increased to a peak of 70 
in 2013-14, with a similar number projected for 2014-15 (Figure 2). The Public 
Service Ombudsman has confirmed that more recent complaints have tended to 
focus on the quality of the assessment and decision -making processes rather than 
on the administration of a claim once eligibility is established. 

Figure 2 – CHC complaints received by the Public Service Ombudsman for Wales, 2006-07 to 2014-15

Notes: 
1 The number of complaints received in 2012-13 at 35 turned out to be lower than the projected 51 complaints as included in the Auditor 

General’s June 2013 report.
2 2014-15 projection as at September 2014.

Source: Public Service Ombudsman for Wales

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Number of
complaints

2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13¹ 2013-14 2014-15
(projected)²

Pack Page 10



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 9

9 Prepared by Wales Audit Office staff on behalf of the Auditor General, this follow-up 
report examines:

 a how the Welsh Government in revising the CHC Framework has responded to 
the issues raised by the Auditor General and the Public Accounts Committee; 

 b the progress made by the Powys Project4 in clearing the backlog of 
retrospective CHC claims5 received up to 15 August 2010 and the progress 
made by the Powys Project and health boards in clearing the claims received 
from 16 August 2010; and  

 c the steps taken to strengthen communication and engagement with individuals 
and their families about CHC6.

10 Overall, we found that there has been a positive response from the Welsh 
Government to many of the issues raised and recommendations made 
previously by the Auditor General and the Public Accounts Committee. 
However, despite some progress, we still have significant concerns over 
the approach to clearing retrospective claims. In our view, the Welsh 
Government now needs to take a stronger and more directive role with health 
boards to improve and speed up the processing of retrospective claims.  

11 The revised CHC Framework addresses many of the weaknesses in the 
previous version and leadership and oversight are being strengthened. 
The revised CHC Framework addresses many of the issues previously raised 
by the Auditor General and the Public Accounts Committee, and the Welsh 
Government has improved the guidance within the Framework and the supporting 
documentation. 

12 The Welsh Government is strengthening its leadership and oversight through a 
new Performance Framework for CHC, which includes an annual peer review in 
each health board (referred to as an annual audit sample) that has the potential to 
help ensure consistent decision making on CHC eligibility. CHC and the complex 
care agenda are major challenges for health boards. The Welsh Government 
and health boards have developed training in the revised Framework. Although 
substantial numbers of staff have received the training, there is considerable 
variation in attendance numbers across health boards. 

4 Originally, the Welsh Government set up the national Powys Project, hosted by Powys Teaching Health Board, to deal with all 
retrospective claims received across Wales up to 15 August 2010. It is also now responsible for a share of the claims held by health 
boards received from 16 August 2010.

5 An individual or their representative may request a retrospective review where they contributed to the cost of their care, but have 
reason to believe that they may have met the eligibility criteria for CHC, which were applicable at that time.

6 Appendix 3 summaries the audit methods we have used to support our findings and conclusions, including a short survey of all 
health boards in Wales. We have not undertaken detailed fieldwork in health boards.

Pack Page 11



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report10

13 There are more retrospective claims outstanding than ever before, and the 
response from some health boards has been unsatisfactory. The revised 
Framework outlines a common process for dealing with retrospective claims, and 
the Welsh Government has now set deadlines for reviewing all retrospective claims 
(Appendix 1). However, the deadlines only relate to the internal review of a claim 
and do not provide an incentive for health boards to complete all parts of the claims 
process promptly. We and the Public Services Ombudsman are of the opinion that 
the current approach is flawed as it does not adequately focus upon or monitor 
what matters most to individuals – the completion and resolution of their claim.  

14 A national task and finish group has been established by the Welsh Government 
and health boards to oversee retrospective reviews. Although the task and finish 
group has delivered on a number of fronts, it has not delivered on its core remit – 
ensuring claims are processed efficiently within the deadlines set – and attendance 
and membership has been problematic. The performance monitoring developed 
by the task and finish group is inadequate and does not identify explicitly whether 
claims are being reviewed within the deadlines set. Some health boards have also 
struggled to provide accurate and timely performance data.

15 The NHS received 2,525 claims up to 15 August 2010, which were the 
responsibility of the Powys Project. Since 16 August 2010, the NHS has received 
a further 4,092 claims, a significant proportion of which were in response to a July 
2014 cut-off date announced by the Welsh Government7. The majority of the claims 
received since 16 August 2010 are now the responsibility of the Powys Project, 
but health boards have retained a significant number of claims. The division 
of responsibility between health boards and the Powys Project creates added 
complexity, and this makes it more difficult to ensure consistency.

16 The Powys Project reviewed as intended all claims received up to 15 August 2010 
by the agreed deadline; this was a significant achievement. Although all claims 
were not completed by this date, problems establishing independent panels appear 
now to have been resolved. The Powys Project, although it has demonstrated its 
ability to deliver, faces an even greater challenge in processing its share of the 
claims received after 16 August 2010 and has been constrained by IT problems 
and delays in the transfer of information from some health boards. The Powys 
Project has been unable to fill vacancies and recruit additional staff whilst it has 
been developing a business case for its long-term funding and seeking its approval 
from health boards. The Powys Project issued the business case to health boards 
in December 2014. 

7 The Welsh Government announced on 30 April 2014, that any claims with a claim period relating to 1 April 2003 and 31 July 2013 
needed to be submitted by 31 July 2014. This led to the submission of 2,486 claims.

Pack Page 12



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 11

17 We acknowledge that delays in processing can occur due to a slow response from 
individuals or their representatives to requests for information. Nevertheless, some 
health boards have not demonstrated that they are able to deal in a timely way 
with the claims they are responsible for. The performance of two health boards 
is of particular concern. The other health boards have made variable progress 
with some making significant inroads into the backlog of claims. As at the end of 
October 2014, four health boards were projecting to take around two years or more 
to review all outstanding claims. We have not reviewed progress since the end of 
October 2014, but we understand that whilst claims continue to be reviewed and 
completed, there has been no step change in the rate of progress. Health boards 
have already missed the two-year deadline for a significant number of claims, and 
unless there is a change of approach, many more claims will breach the two-year 
deadline.

18 Some claimants are being dealt with unreasonably as a result of some health 
boards not always requesting proof of payment promptly on receiving a claim. 
Subsequently, and through no fault of the claimant, there is a risk that some health 
boards may not give priority to some longstanding claims over other claims that are 
far more recent. Some claimants are being disadvantaged due to unfair demands 
from health boards over the extent of the proof of payment evidence that they are 
expected to provide many years after submitting their claim.

19 Public information on CHC has been expanded but needs to be more 
accessible, there were weaknesses in the publicity of the July 2014 cut-off 
for some retrospective claims, and access to advocacy services remains 
a concern for some health boards. The Welsh Government has developed 
a range of information leaflets, but could do more to publicise them and make 
them more accessible. In particular, there is no general information that is widely 
available, for example in care homes, to raise public awareness of CHC. Although 
the Welsh Government issued various communications itself, the action taken 
by health boards to publicise the end of July 2014 cut-off for some retrospective 
claims appears to have been inconsistent. In addition, some health boards remain 
concerned about the availability and funding of advocacy services for CHC.

Pack Page 13



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report12

Implementation of the revised Framework 

1 The Performance Framework is key to ensuring the effective implementation of the 
revised Framework. We recommend that the Welsh Government: 

 a monitors closely the quality of health boards’ self-assessments, and quarterly 
and annual reports, requiring health boards to address any deficiencies;

 b ensures the recent annual audit sample is reported at an individual health 
board level, requiring health boards to confirm the steps they are taking to 
address any issues or inconsistencies in their decision making on eligibility;

 c prioritises the development of the planned customer feedback mechanism; and 

 d ensures that, following the end of the secondment to the role of the national 
policy and practice lead for CHC, it has appropriate internal capacity to deliver 
the Performance Framework.

Retrospective claims processing

2 The performance of health boards has been too variable. The national task 
and finish group for retrospective claims, which is health board led and works 
on a collaborative basis, has struggled to agree a robust plan and monitoring 
arrangements. We believe that it is now appropriate for the Welsh Government 
to take a more directive approach with health boards. We have identified issues 
with the way targets are set for the processing of retrospective claims, and with 
the adequacy of performance monitoring. We recommend that the Welsh 
Government within a month of the publication of this report:

 a Requires all health boards to adopt a common claims register based on the 
Powys Project version, or as a minimum, confirms the core information that 
health boards should hold on local registers.

 b Outlines to health boards the key performance monitoring information they 
need to provide each month; this should include the number of claims that 
have, and are at risk of, breaching the processing deadlines and should cover 
all key steps in the claim process. 

 c Considers setting target times for completing, as well as reviewing, claims.

3 To meet the processing deadlines set by the Welsh Government, there needs to 
be an immediate step change in some health boards. We recommend that the 
Welsh Government:

 a assures itself that individual health boards are allocating sufficient staff 
resources to enable processing deadlines to be met, and if this assurance is 
lacking, take additional steps, such as requiring the Powys Project to take over 
backlog claims from a health board; and

 b satisfies itself that the long-term funding provided by health boards for the 
Powys Project is adequate, including for any additional claims taken over from 
health boards. 

Recommendations

Pack Page 14



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 13

4 Health boards are dealing unreasonably with some people who submitted a claim 
a number of years ago over proof they have paid care home fees. We recommend 
that the Welsh Government:

 a issues guidance covering longstanding claims in which health boards have only 
recently asked for proof of payment to ensure health boards give appropriate 
priority to reviewing this type of claim; and

 b extends the guidance issued in December 2013 to similar claims received after 
16 August 2010 to ensure claimants are not disadvantaged by their inability to 
provide further proof of payment, which they were not made aware of at the 
outset of their claim. 

Informing individuals, their families and the public 

5 To build upon the steps already taken to improve the communication and 
engagement with individuals, we recommend that the Welsh Government: 

 a requires health boards to make general information on CHC more widely 
available, for example through care homes; and 

 b considers whether more needs to be done to publicise the rolling cut-off and 
the 1 October cut-off date for claims covering the period 1 August 2013 to 30 
September 2014.  

Pack Page 15



Part 1

The revised CHC National Framework 
addresses many of the weaknesses in 
the previous version, and leadership and 
oversight are being strengthened

Pack Page 16



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 15

The revised Framework addresses many of the issues raised 
and recommendations made previously by the Auditor General 
and the Public Accounts Committee
The guidance within the Framework and the supporting documentation have 
been improved

1.1 The Auditor General’s June 2013 report identified 13 areas in which the Welsh 
Government could improve the detailed guidance in the former Framework. These 
have in the main been addressed, either fully or partially. For example, the revised 
Framework now includes:

 a expanded guidance on how CHC should be applied to people with a learning 
disability or with mental health needs;

 b more detail on joint funding arrangements between health and social care and 
on top-ups8 and direct payments9; and

 c less onerous and more realistic requirements for the frequency of CHC 
reviews10, that are in line with the requirements in England.

1.2 The revised Framework also outlines a common process for dealing with 
retrospective claims and sets deadlines for how long it should take to process a 
claim (this is covered in more detail in Part 2 of this report). However, the revised 
Framework does not specify the maximum target time within which health boards 
should resolve disputes when an individual challenges a decision on CHC eligibility. 
The revised Framework continues to state that health boards should ‘deal promptly’ 
with a dispute and that health boards should agree and publicise timescales for 
dealing with disputes.

1.3 The Auditor General’s report highlighted the scope for the development of more 
national protocols and documentation, and for greater sharing of local policies and 
documentation between health boards. The Welsh Government has taken steps 
to address these issues, and created a new website, the complex care information 
and support site (www.cciss.org.uk), which supports the revised Framework and 
contains a range of materials, including examples of a range of documents and 
policies.

1.4 The Welsh Government intends over time to share further examples of 
documentation and protocols on the website, which will continue to evolve and 
support the implementation of the revised Framework. The Welsh Government’s 
focus is on sharing protocols and documentation between health boards.  
The Welsh Government has not developed national documentation for all health 
boards to use.

8 Top ups are additional personal contributions to CHC packages such as for additional services or for higher-cost ‘premium’ 
accommodation.

9 Direct payments are made by social services to individuals so that they can buy care services for themselves.
10 There should be periodic review of CHC cases to determine whether an individual’s needs have changed. A change in needs should 

trigger an appropriate change in the package of care and an assessment of whether the person continues to be eligible for CHC 
funding.

Pack Page 17



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report16

The revised Framework promotes the use of a screening tool in specific 
circumstances but leaves its use to the discretion of health boards 

1.5 The Auditor General’s June 2013 report identified a number of potential benefits 
from adopting a screening tool to determine whether someone requires a CHC 
assessment. In its consultation document for the revised Framework, the Welsh 
Government proposed a mandatory screening tool. However, having considered 
the consultation responses, the Welsh Government decided not to make the tool 
mandatory. The rationale for this was that a screening tool: 

 a ‘risks premature assumptions being made regarding the outcome of 
reablement and assessment’11 – there were concerns that practitioners would 
use the screening tool and trigger a full CHC assessment before rehabilitation 
or reablement had maximised the individual’s level of independence; and 

 b might be used to screen out individuals who were potentially eligible, before 
a comprehensive assessment had been undertaken – all individuals with 
complex needs who are likely to require longer-term care and support are 
entitled to a comprehensive assessment.

1.6 The revised Framework does acknowledge that there may be specific 
circumstances where a screening tool would be useful. Should a health board 
choose to use a screening tool, the Framework states that this must be the version 
used in England, and that it should be completed by at least two people, one of 
whom should be from the relevant local authority. We understand that some health 
boards have previously requested greater direction from the Welsh Government 
on the use of the screening tool. However, the Framework does set out the two 
instances where the Welsh Government believes it may be appropriate to use the 
screening tool, which are:

 a care home residents whose condition has changed and an earlier-than-planned 
review is needed; or 

 b to provide a structured rationale where the multidisciplinary team believes a 
complex care package is clearly not required.

The revised Framework adopts the decision support tool used in England and, 
although the Welsh Government has undertaken an initial assessment, the full 
impact of the new tool will take time to establish

1.7 The Auditor General’s June 2013 report concluded that because of differences 
between the decision support tool used in Wales and England, it might be more 
difficult for some people in Wales, most notably those with dementia, to meet 
CHC eligibility criteria; whilst for people with some other health conditions, it may 
be easier. The Welsh Government has adopted the decision support tool used 
in England as part of the revised Framework, which should help ensure greater 
consistency.

11 Consultation – summary of responses, Continuing NHS Healthcare: The National Framework for implementation in Wales, Welsh 
Government, 30 June 2014

Pack Page 18



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 17

1.8 The Public Accounts Committee was concerned about the impact of amending the 
decision support tool upon those people assessed under the previous version, as 
individuals might have been disadvantaged and therefore potentially able to make 
a retrospective claim. The Welsh Government arranged for a sample of health 
boards to assess the potential impact of the new decision support tool on eligibility 
decisions made under the former version of the tool. The report on this exercise 
confirms that:

 a two health boards assessed 10 cases each (a third health board withdrew due 
to a lack of capacity to undertake the assessments);

 b the results indicated that whilst the new decision support tool may increase 
some scores, the overall outcomes were not affected; and 

 c because the sample size of the evaluation was smaller than anticipated, the 
report concluded that there is a need for ongoing monitoring by health boards 
of the impact of the new tool. 

1.9 In response to our survey, five health boards raised the potential impact of the 
new decision support tool as one of their concerns with implementing the revised 
Framework. Their concerns related to the potential for increased numbers of 
individuals being assessed as eligible for CHC and the associated cost pressures; 
and for the potential for increased workload through requests for reviews of cases 
previously considered ineligible.

1.10 The revised Framework also seeks to reduce the demands on practitioners by 
them avoid duplicating and transcribing information on various records. The 
Framework makes clear that practitioners must consider every domain in the 
decision support tool, but that if the assessment and care plan documentation 
are sufficiently robust there is no requirement to duplicate paperwork by copying 
information into a decision support tool document. In these circumstances, it 
will be acceptable to only complete the decision support tool summary sheet; 
the summary record of the multidisciplinary team decision on eligibility and the 
rationale; and the equality monitoring form. This takes away duplication from 
front-line staff, but makes the scrutiny process more time-consuming for CHC 
managers. Some health boards told us that they would welcome greater direction 
from the Welsh Government on when it is appropriate not to fully complete the 
decision support tool. However, the Welsh Government informed us that the annual 
audit sample did not indicate any problems with accuracy or completeness of the 
recorded evidence on eligibility and the decision-making process.

Pack Page 19



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report18

Some important steps are being taken to strengthen leadership 
and oversight, and although substantial numbers of staff 
have received training in the revised Framework, there is 
considerable variation between health boards 
The Welsh Government is strengthening its leadership and oversight through a 
new Performance Framework for CHC which includes annual peer review of CHC 
eligibility decisions

1.11 The previous reports by the Auditor General and the Public Accounts Committee 
identified the need to strengthen leadership and governance around CHC, both 
at an all-Wales level and within health boards. The Welsh Government has 
subsequently agreed revised governance arrangements as part of the revised 
Framework, with:

 a health boards having a named executive director responsible for monitoring 
CHC performance and maintaining strategic oversight; and

 b each local authority having a named link with ‘equivalent organisational status’ 
to liaise with the health board named director and to report to the relevant local 
authority scrutiny committee. 

1.12 All health boards confirmed to us that they have agreed an executive lead for CHC. 
However, Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board confirmed that it had agreed 
two executive leads – the Director of Nursing, Midwifery and Patient Services, 
and the Director of Primary, Community and Mental Health Services. We have not 
examined lead arrangements within local authorities as part of this follow-up work.

1.13 The Welsh Government is establishing a complex care stakeholder reference 
group to provide policy officials and health boards with access to expertise in 
CHC and in other areas of long-term care. Representation is likely to include local 
government, service provider organisations, specialist advisory groups for learning 
disability, mental health and children’s services, and policy leads from relevant 
parts of the Welsh Government. The group is likely to hold its first meeting in 
January 2015. 

1.14 In addition, the Welsh Government has agreed a new Performance Framework 
with health boards which comprises of four key mechanisms: self-assessment; 
strengthened performance reporting; annual peer review and sample audit; and 
service user feedback (Figure 3). The purpose of the Performance Framework is to 
monitor the implementation of the revised Framework; provide assurance that CHC 
eligibility decisions are consistent and fair across Wales; and provide opportunities 
for shared learning and service improvement.

Pack Page 20



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 19

Figure 3 – New Performance Framework for CHC

Mechanism Details

Organisational  
self-assessment

Each health board is to undertake an annual self-assessment, using 
the tool we issued alongside the Auditor General’s June 2013 report.

Strengthened reporting 
arrangements

The named health board director is to present (as a minimum) a 
quarterly performance report with a prescribed coverage to their 
board, and copied to the Welsh Government. An annual report is 
to be prepared by the named health board director (again with a 
prescribed coverage), and a national publically available report is to 
be collated by the Welsh Government.
Quarterly reporting is due to commence in 2015-16, with annual 
reports commencing in June 2015 (initially covering the six months 
from December 2015). Some of the required data is not currently 
collected, but the Welsh Government expects health boards to 
address these gaps.

Annual peer review and 
sample audit

Annual peer review of CHC decision making in all health boards to 
determine whether there is consistency across Wales. The audit 
involves reviewing a sample of recent CHC and funded nursing care 
cases, together with a sample of retrospective claims. The audit 
assesses whether the health board has followed the correct process 
and interpreted eligibility criteria appropriately and consistently.

Service-user feedback To support improved user experiences, the Performance Framework 
commits to developing feedback arrangements.
The Welsh Government is considering the options available for 
gathering service user feedback, and in particular is looking at 
developing a questionnaire that health boards would hand out to all 
people who have a CHC assessment. Individuals would return the 
questionnaire to an independent body for analysis and reporting.

Source: Welsh Government, Performance Framework for the Implementation of Continuing NHS Healthcare in Wales, 2014

1.15 Health boards submitted their first self-assessment and action plan to the Welsh 
Government in February 2014. Feedback from the Welsh Government and health 
boards on the self-assessment tool has been positive, with them finding it to be 
clear, concise and not time-consuming whilst successfully identifying key national 
and local areas for service improvement. 

1.16 We have not sought to review fully the February 2014 self-assessments, but some 
aspects appear to be overly positive. For example, five health boards concluded 
that all relevant health and social services staff had attended initial CHC training. 
However, we have found that the problems highlighted in the Auditor General’s 
June 2013 report with ensuring all staff are trained are still evident (paragraph 1.26 
to 1.27).

Pack Page 21



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report20

1.17 The Welsh Government co-ordinated the first annual sample audit in October 2014, 
which involved the Welsh Government national policy and practice lead for CHC, 
the national director for complex care12, and the director of the Powys Project, all 
of whom have a clinical background. The roll out of the annual audit sample was 
a significant step forward. At the time of preparing this follow-up report, the Welsh 
Government was writing up and discussing with individual health boards the results 
from the annual sample audit. As a result, we are not in a position to confirm the 
specific outcomes. However, the Welsh Government confirmed to us that the 
exercise had been very worthwhile and that it had identified:

 a a range of good practice that would be shared across health boards;

 b the need for greater clarity over when people with a learning disability should 
be eligible for CHC or for joint funding between the health boards and the local 
authority; 

 c generally consistent and appropriate decision making on eligibility, with 
substantive issues in only one health board; and 

 d generally consistent implementation of the national process for retrospective 
claims, with substantive issues in only one health board (a different health 
board from the one where the audit identified issues with eligibility decision 
making).

1.18 The revised Framework also stipulates other situations in which health boards 
should look to use peer review of individual cases, namely:

 a where the multidisciplinary team is unable to reach a consensus view on CHC 
eligibility, it should escalate the dispute to the appropriate manager and access 
peer review from within, or outside of, its health board; 

 b where the individual or their representative disputes the clinical assessment 
of the multidisciplinary team, external peer review (from another directorate or 
health board) should be offered as a matter of course; and

 c as part of their audit and continuous service improvement programmes.

12 The National Director for Complex Care, a post that became full time in April 2014, has a remit to work across health boards on 
matters relating to CHC, complex care, and integrated health and social care services. 

Pack Page 22



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 21

13 NHS Wales: Overview of Financial and Service Performance 2013-14, Auditor General for Wales, 14 October 2014

Figure 4 – Percentage change in CHC and NHS-funded nursing care expenditure 2010-11  
to 2013-14 (cash terms)

Source: Wales Audit Office analysis of health board final accounts 

Percent

BCU Powys Hywel Dda ABMU C&V Cwm Taf Aneurin Bevan

CHC expenditure (net)

FNC expenditure

5.2%

13.2% 13.4%15%

41.6%

1.5%

-4.1%

-28%

-15.3%
-13.5%

-9.8%

-16.5%

4.2% 3.4%

-40

-30

-20

-10

0

10

20

30

40

50

1.19 CHC and funded nursing care expenditure patterns continue to vary significantly 
across health boards (Figure 4), and indicate the need for ongoing peer review. As 
outlined in the Auditor General’s June 2013 report, there are a number of reasons 
that can explain reductions in CHC expenditure at some health boards, including 
investment in modernising complex care services; a push to identify savings 
within CHC budgets; and changes to the nature and extent of some hospital and 
community services. The Auditor General’s recent report on NHS financial and 
service performance13 identified CHC as the fourth largest area of reported savings 
by health boards, with £24 million of savings identified in 2013-14. However, the 
Auditor General’s June 2013 report on CHC concluded that it was unclear whether 
the way health boards were interpreting eligibility for CHC had also contributed to 
the differing expenditure patterns.

Pack Page 23



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report22

1.20 The successful implementation of the Performance Framework will require 
appropriate capacity within the Welsh Government. The national policy and 
practice lead for CHC, working on secondment from NHS Wales, currently 
provides this capacity. However, the secondment is due to end in February 2015. 
In considering its options, the Welsh Government will need to take into account 
the resources and skills needed to drive and deliver the Performance Framework, 
including the annual sample audit.

CHC and the complex care agenda are major challenges for health boards 

1.21 In October 2014, health boards agreed revised governance and accountability 
arrangements for complex care14 with the Welsh Government, which included 
establishing a national complex care board15 jointly chaired by the lead health 
board chief executive and the director of social services at the Welsh Government. 
We understand that the board will have strategic oversight of relevant policy 
matters and their implementation, along with other key issues such as the 
retrospective CHC claims process. The board will have no executive decision-
making mandate, but it will provide advice, guidance and recommendations to 
health board chief executives. 

1.22 We have not reviewed the governance arrangements within individual health 
boards as part of this work, but the prominence of CHC and complex care has 
increased in recent years and health boards will continue to face significant 
demands and challenges. For example, analysis undertaken by the national 
director for complex care indicates that NHS Wales now funds as many placements 
in care homes as it provides inpatient beds.

Working with health boards, the Welsh Government has developed training in the 
revised Framework and substantial numbers of staff have received the training 
although there is considerable variation in attendance levels across health boards

1.23 The Auditor General’s June 2013 report found that health boards had rolled out 
standard training on CHC to mixed effect, and that they needed to provide a 
broader range of training. Although the Public Accounts Committee welcomed the 
Welsh Government’s commitment to the provision of training, it recommended 
better monitoring of training and its outcomes. 

14 Complex care services would include long-term care, reablement and recovery services, integrated health and social care,  
and NHS-funded nursing care as well as CHC.

15 Health boards and the Welsh Government are also establishing a national complex care performance and operations group.  
This group would take the lead on performance and operational aspects of complex care, and would provide expertise, advice and 
information to the national complex care board to enable it to carry out its strategic oversight role.

Pack Page 24



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 23

1.24 The Welsh Government has developed with health boards national training 
modules for health and social services staff. The training modules, which were 
modified as the result of testing at ‘train the trainer’ workshops, involve:

 a a ‘priority’ module – this covers the key differences in the revised Framework 
and has been delivered to staff from each health board who are to cascade 
training locally; and

 b a ‘foundation’ module – an updated one-day basic training course in the revised 
Framework with delivery to health board representatives commencing in 
September 2014, and then cascaded down locally. 

1.25 In addition, the Welsh Government is planning to develop specialist training on key 
issues, such as on co-ordinating a package of care or on planning the transition 
between children and adult services. The specialist training will be provided 
centrally rather than through cascade arrangements within individual health boards.

1.26 In their responses to our survey, all health boards expressed concern about 
ensuring all appropriate staff receive timely training in the priority or foundation 
modules. The two jointly developed training modules were finalised at the end 
of July 2014 (the priority module – this was one month later than planned) and 
the start of September 2014 (the foundation module). The revised Framework’s 
implementation date was 1 October 2014, and health boards have been working 
towards all staff that routinely assess CHC eligibility receiving update training by 
the end of December 2014. In order to assist health boards, experienced trainers 
from the Powys Project have provided additional support. 

1.27  The Performance Framework requires health boards to report on the number of 
staff who have completed the different training modules. The Welsh Government 
confirmed to us that at least 1,500 NHS Wales staff have attended the priority 
module training and over 900 have attended the foundation training. However, 
the Welsh Government also confirmed that there is considerable variation in 
attendance numbers across health boards and that it is continuing to monitor the 
situation.

1.28 In addition, the Welsh Government is to re-launch the complex care forum16 to 
support practitioners and with the intention that this forum will have a greater focus 
on shared learning. The Welsh Government is also planning to run an annual 
conference or learning event on CHC. The first conference, likely to take place in 
the first quarter of 2015, will include feedback on the annual sample audit results.

16 The complex care forum, for multidisciplinary teams supporting people with complex needs, facilitated shared learning and provided 
a forum for debate. It last met in May 2012.

Pack Page 25



Part 2

There are more retrospective claims 
outstanding than ever before, and the 
response from some health boards has 
been unsatisfactory

Pack Page 26



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 25

The revised Framework outlines a common process for dealing 
with retrospective claims
2.1 The Auditor General’s June 2013 report identified that there was no common 

approach across health boards for dealing with retrospective claims. The revised 
Framework now outlines a common process for health boards to follow, based 
on the approach used by the Powys Project. The responsibility for processing 
retrospective claims rests with either the Powys Project or individual health boards 
(Appendix 1).

2.2 The Auditor General’s report highlighted that CHC is a complex topic with its own 
distinct language. In this report, we have used the following terms to refer to the 
different steps involved in dealing with a retrospective claim (Figure 5):

 a a ‘closed’ claim refers to where a claimant is unable to provide proof of 
payment or proof of legal authority, or where they have decided to withdraw 
their application;

 b a ‘reviewed’ claim refers to a claim that has been reviewed and a 
recommendation made, and there are potentially a number of further steps 
to be taken including negotiation with the individual or an independent panel 
hearing;

 c a ‘completed’ claim refers to a claim in which a decision has been ratified and 
which is ready for the re-imbursement process to commence (if applicable); 
and

 d a ‘fully resolved’ claim refers to when no further action is required on a claim 
with the re-imbursement made (if applicable).

Pack Page 27



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report26

Figure 5 – Retrospective claims process

Source: Wales Audit Office analysis of various Welsh Government documents

Individual registers intent 
to make a claim with 
health board

Health board requests proof 
of payment/proof of legal 
authority from claimant

Claimant has �ve months to 
provide health board with 
proof of payment/proof of 
legal authority

Health board checks proof of 
payment/proof of legal authority 
and writes to claimant 
con�rming these are acceptable

Case is ‘received’

Processing of claim 
commences – chronology 
produced, case reviewed and 
a recommendation made

Case is ‘activated’ and 
the clock starts for 
monitoring time taken 
to process the case

Clock stops for 
monitoring time taken 
to process the case

Case is ‘reviewed’
Direct to rati�cation – if 
eligibility period matches 
the claim 

Negotiating with claimant
– if partial eligibility or no 
eligibility 

Independent review panel
– if reviewer is unable to 
make a decision or peer 
review indicates an 
element of doubt 

Cases may go 
to panel after 
negotiation 

Decision is rati�ed and passed 
to the health board �nance 
department – which calculates 
re-imbursement and sends 
calculation and indemnity 
letter to claimant

Case is ‘fully resolved’

On receiving indemnity 
letter, re-imbursement is 
sent to claimant

Case is ‘completed’

Pack Page 28



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 27

The Welsh Government has set deadlines for reviewing 
retrospective claims, but the approach could lead to health 
boards acting in a way that undermines the timely processing of 
claims and performance monitoring is inadequate  
The revised Framework sets deadlines for the submission of claims and for the 
maximum processing time which reduces over time from two years to six months 

2.3 The Auditor General’s June 2013 report highlighted that the Welsh Government 
had not set a timetable for clearing the retrospective claims that were the 
responsibility of health boards. The Public Accounts Committee considered that all 
claims should be dealt with within a maximum of two years.

2.4 The revised Framework sets out deadlines for people to register and for the NHS 
to process all current and future retrospective claims (Appendix 1). The Framework 
states that the current backlog of claims – those relating to a claim period between 
1 April 2003 and 31 July 2013 that have been received between 16 August 2010 
and the 31 July 2014 deadline set by the Welsh Government – should take 
individually no longer than two years to process. 

2.5 The revised Framework then reduces the maximum processing time for other 
claims, as follows:

 a for those relating to a claim period between 1 August 2013 and 30 September 
2014 that are received between 1 August 2014 and 1 October 2015, the 
maximum time taken to process is reduced to 12 months; and

 b for those relating to a claim period after October 2014, there is a rolling cut-
off for people to submit claims (within 12 months of the claim period), and the 
maximum time to process is reduced to six months.

2.6 If a claim spans two periods, then the full claim period is considered at the time 
the case is first processed. For example, for claims submitted before 31 July 2014, 
the whole claim period would be considered even if this extended past July 2013. 
The complexity of the requirements and the reducing timeframes for processing 
claims is a significant challenge for health boards. This will require health boards 
to monitor closely progress against these requirements and the adequacy of the 
resources deployed on claims processing. 

Pack Page 29



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report28

Claims are only expected to be reviewed rather than completed within the 
prescribed deadlines and there is potential for health boards to act in a way that 
undermines timely processing

2.7 Processing a claim commences when an individual registers an intent to make a 
claim and is fully resolved when the individual receives a re-imbursement (Figure 
5). However, the Welsh Government deadlines for dealing with a claim only relate 
to part of this process. The revised Framework refers to the ‘date of application’ as 
the point at which the clock should start in measuring the time to process a claim; 
and to a claim then being ‘processed’ within the stated timeframe. The Framework 
does not define these terms explicitly. However, Welsh Government officials told us 
that, as outlined in a public leaflet on CHC retrospective cases17:

 a the ‘date of application’ is when a health board issues a letter to the claimant 
confirming that the proof of payment and proof of legal authority18 evidence that 
they have submitted is acceptable, and not the point at which the application is 
submitted; and 

 b a claim is ‘processed’ when it has been reviewed and a recommendation 
made, and not when a final decision is communicated to the claimant or the 
reimbursement (if applicable) is made. 

2.8 The Welsh Government’s rationale for starting and stopping the clock at these 
stages is that progress before and after these points becomes more dependent 
upon the claimant or their representative. Specifically:

 a Before the clock starts:

 ‒ the health board needs to request proof of payment and proof of legal 
authority from the claimant;

 ‒ the claimant then needs to provide proof of payment and proof of legal 
authority prior to the claim being processed – claimants are currently given 
up to five months to provide this; and

 ‒ the health board needs to review the proof of payment and proof of legal 
authority, and confirm the adequacy of this to the claimant. 

 b After the clock has stopped:

 ‒ the majority of claims require a negotiation phase and/or an independent 
review panel hearing, this can take three months or longer to complete;

 ‒ health boards are routinely taking two to three months to calculate the re-
imbursement due, and send out the indemnity letter to the claimant; and

 ‒ on receiving the indemnity letter, health boards have up to 30 days to issue 
the re-imbursement.

17 Continuing NHS Healthcare: Cut-off dates for assessment of eligibility for cases during the period 1 April 2003 to 31 July 2013, Welsh 
Government information leaflet, 2014

18 A key part of the initial process of dealing with a retrospective claim is ensuring that the person making the claim is able to provide 
proof that they have paid the relevant care home fees and that they have legal authority to pursue the claim.

Pack Page 30



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 29

2.9 In practice, a claim that meets the two-year deadline may actually take three years 
or more to go from the claimant registering an intent to claim to them receiving 
reimbursement (if applicable). The way the deadlines are set could also lead health 
boards to not deal with all parts of the process in a timely way. There is a risk that 
health boards could focus on reviewing outstanding claims and:

 a not devote resources to requesting and reviewing proof of payment and proof 
of legal authority, or to issuing letters to claimants confirming that these are 
acceptable – this would also reduce the number of claims that are ‘activated’ 
with the clock started; and

 b not prioritise the negotiation and independent review panel process or the 
calculation and payment of re-imbursements. 

2.10 As health boards are not necessarily capturing information on, and do not report 
all key stages in the process (paragraphs 2.17 and 2.19), there is mixed evidence 
on whether they are taking all steps in the process in a timely way. There is 
some evidence that they are not always dealing with claims promptly in the early 
stages of processing. In the past, some health boards have not requested proof of 
payment in a timely way (paragraphs 2.49 and 2.52). The Welsh Government told 
us that the sample audit indicated that proof of payment is now generally being 
requested promptly but that there was variation between health boards. 

2.11 There is no reporting or evidence on how promptly health boards complete a claim 
once they have reviewed it. The time they take to fully resolve a claim is, however, 
being reported. This data shows that in the past there have been problems with 
health boards taking extended time to reimburse claimants, but that this now 
seems to have been resolved. By the end of October 2014, all health boards were 
taking between eight to 12 weeks to calculate the amount to be reimbursed and 
send the indemnity letter to the claimant; and then, on receipt of the indemnity 
letter, all health boards were making the reimbursement within 30 days.

2.12 We have discussed this issue with the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, 
whose views the Welsh Government has regularly sought over the reasonableness 
of deadlines for dealing with retrospective claims. We and the Public Services 
Ombudsman are of the opinion that the current approach is flawed as it does 
not adequately focus upon, or monitor, what matters most to individuals – the 
completion, rather than the review, of their claim.

Pack Page 31



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report30

The Welsh Government and health boards have established a national task and 
finish group with a remit to ensure claims are processed within the deadlines set, 
but membership and attendance has been problematic

2.13 In January 2014, and in line with a recommendation in the Auditor General’s June 
2013 report, the Welsh Government and health boards established a national task 
and finish group to oversee retrospective claims. The Public Accounts Committee 
also recommended that the Welsh Government should develop a coherent plan for 
clearing the backlog of claims, and this is the key deliverable for the task and finish 
group. 

2.14 A health board chief executive chairs the group with membership from each health 
board, the NHS national director for complex care, the director for the Powys 
Project, and the Welsh Government national policy and practice lead for CHC. The 
task and finish group has been meeting on a quarterly basis. However, attendance 
at meetings has been problematic, with: 

 a only three health boards nominating a representative at director level as 
required – two health boards have nominated an assistant director and the 
remaining two health board representatives are at lower grades;

 b attendance by the nominated representative being highly variable across health 
boards – two health board nominated representatives failed to make any of the 
first four meetings; and 

 c only three health boards have sent a representative, whether the nominated 
member or an alternative, to all four meetings.

2.15 Some health boards told us that the lack of videoconferencing facilities has 
impacted upon attendance at the group meetings. The chair of the national 
task and finish group is working with health boards to resolve the issues over-
representation and attendance at its meetings. In addition, the chair is also working 
with health boards to improve health board attendance at the business support 
group, which has also been very variable. The business support group underpins 
the national task and finish group, and is responsible for drafting detailed proposals 
and gathering performance monitoring data. Some health boards told us that 
initially they had lacked clarity over the role of these two groups.

2.16 Despite these issues, the national task and finish group reported to us that it has 
been successful in a number of areas. These include information cleansing to 
ensure accuracy of the numbers of cases reported by health boards; developing 
guidance on definitions and practices around retrospective claims processing, 
instigating training and support, and establishing audit and assurance processes. 
Nevertheless, as expanded upon in the rest of this section, the national task and 
finish group has not delivered on its core remit – to ensure all retrospective claims 
are processed efficiently and to the set deadlines. 

Pack Page 32



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 31

19 A July 2014 report covered data from March to June 2014, an October 2014 report included data up to and including September 
2014, and a November 2014 report included data up to and including October 2014.

The performance monitoring developed by the task and finish group does not 
identify whether the prescribed deadlines are being met and some health boards 
have struggled to provide accurate and timely data

2.17 From its establishment in January 2014, the national task and finish group 
has looked to agree a format for the performance report that it receives for 
retrospective claims. The Powys Project collates monthly performance data from 
health boards and then uses this to compile the performance report. By November 
2014, there had been three performance reports19 and the coverage of each 
report has changed. At no point has the performance report or the supporting data 
addressed explicitly some fundamental issues of key importance to the Welsh 
Government, health boards and claimants (Figure 6). Furthermore, from November 
2014, as agreed by the task and finish group, health boards will be significantly 
reducing the information that they provide each month.

Figure 6 – Coverage of performance reports and core data

Key issue What is covered in the performance 
report?

What data is provided by health boards?

Are claims being 
reviewed within the 
deadlines set?

This is not reported upon (although it is 
possible to infer that some claims are 
likely to have missed the deadline – see 
paragraphs 2.42 to 2.44).
There is no reporting of the number of 
outstanding cases with a two-year or  
one-year deadline for processing. 

Up to October 2014, the number of claims with 
a review outstanding that had passed their 
breach date, based on the month the claim 
was submitted, could be established from the 
data return. However, the return did not include 
the date that adequate proof of payment was 
received – which is the Welsh Government’s start 
point for calculating a breach date.
In addition, the data return did not identify 
whether cases that had been reviewed had met 
the deadline or not. 
Health boards no longer provide this data.

How many claims are 
at risk of breaching the 
deadline?

Not reported. Up to October 2014, the number of cases 
approaching a breach date could be established 
from the data return, but again only based on the 
date the claim was submitted.
Health boards no longer provide this data.

How many reviewed 
claims have been 
completed or fully 
resolved?

Not reported. Not captured.

When is each health 
board projecting to 
review all claims?

Not reported. 
However, the projected date that some 
longstanding claims are likely to be 
reviewed has been reported. Initially this 
was by health board, but then on an  
all-Wales basis, and is no longer to be 
included in the report. 

Up to October 2014, the data return included 
the number of reviews completed since March 
2014. Projections could be based on this data 
(paragraph 2.45).
Health boards no longer provide this data.

Source: Wales Audit Office review of performance report and supporting data

Pack Page 33



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report32

2.18 The first three performance reports, which have not drawn on all the available 
supporting information, have focused on the number of claims that the Powys 
Project and health boards are responsible for and have tracked the number of 
reviews undertaken and outstanding. The three reports have also outlined:

 a the number of claims with and without proof of payment and proof of legal 
authority; 

 b the time taken by health boards to calculate the amount to be reimbursed and 
to send the indemnity letter to the claimant; and

 c whether claims were being reimbursed within 30 days of the indemnity letter 
being received from the claimant.

2.19 From November 2014, the information provided each month by health boards 
is being limited to an overall total of the number of cases received up to 30 
September 2014 but not reviewed; the total number of active or inactive claims; 
and the total number of claims with insufficient evidence of proof of payment or 
proof of legal authority. 

2.20 Some health boards have struggled to provide timely and accurate monthly data 
to inform the performance report. Some health boards told us that initially there 
was a lack of clarity over what the data should cover. This contributed to some 
health boards questioning the accuracy of the first performance report, despite this 
reflecting the data that they had provided. Welsh Government and Powys Project 
staff subsequently held meetings with each health board to clarify the data required 
and what this should cover. In addition, the chair of the task and finish group 
requested that either the chief executive or the responsible executive director in 
each health board sign off the monthly data prior to its submission to the Powys 
Project team.  

2.21 However, these problems continued and one health board did not provide all the 
required data for September 2014; and three health boards did not submit any 
data for October 2014. Our own review of the data submitted by health boards 
identified ongoing problems with figures not balancing and inaccurate or differently 
interpreted submissions.

Pack Page 34



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 33

The Powys Project reviewed as intended all claims received up 
to 15 August 2010 by the deadline of 30 June 2014 although all 
claims were not completed by this date
2.22 All claims received up to 15 August 2010 (when the former Framework was 

implemented) are the responsibility of the Powys Project, which received in total 
some 2,454 claims. In its response to the Public Accounts Committee report,  
the Welsh Government has confirmed its intention that all claims were to be 
reviewed by the end of June 2014. The Powys Project met this deadline, which 
was a significant achievement. However, as at the end of June 2014, 155 cases 
(six per cent) were going through negotiation and/or the panel process and had not 
therefore been completed. 

2.23 As at the end of October 2014, the number of these claims not completed had 
fallen to 49, of which 35 were awaiting an independent panel, and 14 were 
going through the negotiation process. Powys Project staff told us that problems 
arranging independent panels have slowed down progress with the outstanding 
claims. Although panel chairs are in place, it has taken time to find health board 
and local authority representatives. The Powys Project has now appointed and 
trained members for the three regionally based panels.

The responsibility for processing the substantial number of 
claims received since 16 August 2010 now rests with the Powys 
Project and health boards, and this division of responsibility 
creates added complexity, and makes it more difficult to ensure 
consistency
2.24 The Welsh Government first confirmed the arrangements for dealing with 

retrospective claims in September 2011, with the Powys Project responsible for all 
retrospective claims received up to 15 August 2010 (when the former Framework 
was implemented). The responsibility for processing any retrospective claim 
received after this date rested, at that time, with individual health boards. 

2.25 The Auditor General’s June 2013 report expressed concerns about the ability of 
health boards to deal with the claims received from 16 August 2010. The Public 
Accounts Committee shared this concern and recommended that the Powys 
Project was not disbanded until all backlog claims were cleared.

Pack Page 35



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report34

2.26 In January 2014, the national task and finish group began to develop a number of 
options for the claims received from 16 August 2010, including handing all backlog 
claims over to the Powys Project. In February 2014, health board chief executives 
agreed that in principle some claims would become the responsibility of the Powys 
Project whilst health boards would process the remaining claims. Following this 
decision, the task and finish group discussed and agreed the detailed split of cases 
between health boards and the Powys Project (Figure 7). The reason for splitting 
responsibility for the claims received since 16 August 2010 was that:

 a Health boards could not remain responsible for all these claims as they did not 
have the capacity to deal with all of them in a timely way.

 b Health boards did not want to pass responsibility for all these claims over to the 
Powys Project, as:

 ‒ they needed to develop capacity and experience in dealing with 
retrospective cases on an ongoing basis; and

 ‒ it was not necessarily possible to second staff employed by health boards 
to process retrospective claims to the Powys Project, as they were not 
always dedicated to claims processing.

Figure 7 – Responsibility for processing claims received from 16 August 2010

Organisation Claims responsible for 

Powys Project A proportion of the claims submitted between 16 August 2010 and 
the end of April 2014.
Claims to be received between May and July 2014, in response to a 
July 2014 cut-off date advertised by the Welsh Government20.

Health boards A proportion of the claims submitted between 16 August 2010 and 
the end of April 2014.
All claims after 1 August 2014.

Source: Wales Audit Office analysis of various Welsh Government documents

20 The Welsh Government announced on 30 April 2014, that any claims with a claim period relating to 1 April 2003 and 31 July 2013 
needed to be submitted by 31 July 2014.

Pack Page 36



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 35

21 This data is partly drawn from health board performance monitoring data as at the end of October 2014; however, we have had to 
rely upon earlier data from two health boards that only cover the period up to the end of April 2014.

2.27 In assessing the progress with clearing the claims received from 16 August 2010, 
we have relied heavily upon the available performance information, although this 
proved not to be as robust or comprehensive as we would expect. The available 
data shows that, as at the end of October 2014, the NHS had received 4,092 
claims since 16 August 201021 with:

 a 2,486 claims being received between May and July 2014 in response to the 
July 2014 cut-off announcement; and

 b the majority of the remaining 1,606 claims being received between 16 August 
2010 and the end of April 2014.

2.28 The division of responsibility between health boards and the Powys Project makes 
it more difficult to ensure that claims are dealt with equitably, for example:

 a claims should be dealt with in chronological order but the number of claims and 
the speed at which health boards process these will determine how long people 
in similar circumstances have to wait; and

 b although the Framework now outlines a common process for dealing with 
retrospective claims, the recent annual audit sample identified that this process 
was not being applied consistently in one health board (paragraph 1.17).

2.29 Progress is often dependent upon agreement across all health boards, which 
is a challenge in itself. For example, this report highlights the inadequacy of 
performance monitoring information, and addressing these shortfalls will require a 
good degree of consistency between health boards on the information they hold 
on their local claims registers. Health boards considered, but could not agree, 
adopting a common claims register based on the version used by the Powys 
Project. 

2.30 To allow health boards to generate meaningful and comprehensive performance 
monitoring information, we have identified some key information that we think 
should be included for each claim on their local register (Figure 8). This is very 
likely to require health boards to update their local claims register. The Powys 
Project has confirmed that its claims register holds all the key information that we 
have identified, and the decision by health boards not to adopt this format should 
be revisited. To ensure consistency and transparency in the way data is reported, 
we believe that health boards and the Powys Project should routinely share the 
information held on their claims registers.   

Pack Page 37



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report36

2.31 Our discussions with a law firm highlighted that the complexity of the arrangement 
between health boards and the Powys Project makes it difficult for individuals 
and their representatives to be clear as to which body they need to deal with. The 
arrangements have made it harder for individuals and their representatives to 
navigate an already complicated process. 

Figure 8 – Some key information needed on claim registers to generate meaningful 
performance information

Date 
application is 

received 
Date proof of 
payment and 
proof of legal 

authority 
requested

Date proof of 
payment and 
proof of legal 

authority received 
or date claim 

closed

Date letter 
sent to claimant to 
confirm adequacy 

of payment and 
proof of legal 

authority

Date claim was 
reviewed

Date claim was 
completed

Date indemnity 
letter sent to 

claimant

Date indemnity 
letter received 

Date 
re-imbursement 

made

Information 
needed on 
each claim

Pack Page 38



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 37

The Powys Project faces an even greater challenge in 
processing its share of the claims received after 16 August 
2010, and has been constrained by IT problems and delays 
in the transfer of information from health boards and the 
agreement of ongoing funding
2.32 The Powys Project has responsibility for the 2,486 claims received between May 

and July 2014 following the publicity about the July 2014 cut-off date. Claimants 
had until the end of December 2014  to provide proof of payment and proof of legal 
authority, and at the time of drafting this report the final number of claims that will 
proceed was not known. A proportion of these claims are likely in time to be closed 
(27 per cent of the claims received up to 15 August 2010 were subsequently closed 
because the claimant was unable to provide proof of payment or proof of legal 
authority, or decided to withdraw their application).

2.33 To meet the Welsh Government’s processing deadline, the Powys Project will need 
to review all the validated claims within two years of confirming receipt of adequate 
proof of payment or proof of legal authority. The Powys Project told us that it is 
reviewing the adequacy of the evidence provided by the December 2014 deadline, 
and expects that in some cases it will need to request further proof from the 
claimant. As a result, the two-year deadline is likely to be in early 2017 rather than 
December 2016. Even so, this is a far more challenging target than for the claims 
received up to 15 August 2010 for which the Powys Project had a similar number of 
claims (2,454) to process but an additional year to complete all claims.  

2.34 In addition, the Powys Project had agreed to process a proportion of the other 
claims received by health boards since 16 August 2010. The original plan was that 
health boards would pass over all of the agreed claims by the end of June 2014, 
and that the Powys Project would then review all cases by the end of December 
2014. This would release capacity for the Powys Project to review its main bulk of 
claims (the 2,486 claims received between May and July 2014). 

2.35 As at the end of October 2014, the Powys Project had reviewed 19 of the 728 
claims passed to it from health boards, and the Powys Project has confirmed that 
it will not be able to review the remainder of the claims by the end of December 
2014. This is likely to have a knock-on effect with the processing by the Powys 
Project of its other claims, and is due to: 

 a health boards only handing over to the Powys Project two-thirds of the planned 
number of claims by the end of June 2014 deadline – this was partly because 
some health boards had not obtained proof of payment and proof of legal 
authority on all cases;

 b continuing delays with some health boards providing the relevant case files to 
allow the claim to be processed;

Pack Page 39



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report38

 c being unable to fill vacancies and recruit additional staff until health boards 
have agreed the ongoing funding for the project; and 

 d being without access to an IT network for over a month, following the 
relocation of all other NHS staff from the building complex – which slowed 
down the process of chasing records, transferring information, and producing 
chronologies. 

2.36 The Welsh Government and health boards have jointly funded the Powys Project 
to process the claims received up to 15 August 2010. The Welsh Government has 
also provided £735,000 towards the cost of the Powys Project processing claims 
received from 16 August 2010, but has confirmed that it will not provide any further 
funding. The Welsh Government funding was sufficient to cover the costs of the 
Powys Project up until the end of December 2014, and all Powys Project team 
member contracts were due to expire at this date. Health boards only agreed the 
funding for the rest of the 2014-15 financial year at the end of October 2014. 

2.37 In December 2014, the Powys Project issued a business plan to health boards 
for the long-term funding required to enable the project to meet the deadlines set 
by the Welsh Government. The task and finish group has discussed the business 
case, which is now being considered by health board chief executives. Once a 
business case is approved, staff contracts can be extended to the expected end 
of the project’s life. However, health boards may well struggle to provide adequate 
long-term funding. The task and finish group is considering proposing an extension 
of the deadline for reviewing claims from two to three years. The lack of agreed 
long-term funding means that the Powys Project cannot fill existing vacancies for 
special investigators, clinical advisors and administrative staff. There is also a 
potential risk that experienced staff will leave the Powys Project as their current 
contracts expire at the end of March 2015.

Some health boards have not demonstrated that they are able 
to deal in a timely way with the claims they are responsible for, 
and some claimants are being dealt with unreasonably 
Health boards have not always given appropriate priority and resources to 
dealing with the retrospective claims they have received since 16 August 2010, 
and two have made little progress

2.38 The Auditor General’s June 2013 report found that health boards had made very 
limited progress in clearing the retrospective claims that they were responsible 
for at that time (those received from 16 August 2010). The report concluded that 
most health boards had not given sufficient priority, or allocated appropriate staff 
resources, to deal with retrospective claims. This remains the case for a number of 
health boards.

Pack Page 40



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 39

2.39 We gathered data in August 2014 on the staff resources allocated to processing 
retrospective claims, repeating the exercise we originally undertook in May 2012. 
We found that health boards have not substantially increased the number of staff 
dealing with retrospective claims. Specifically: 

 a there was little or no noticeable change in three health boards; 

 b there had been an increase of between 0.7 and 1.2 whole-time equivalent staff 
in the remaining four health boards; and

 c none of the health boards planned to increase further the number of staff 
– although some health boards have subsequently told us that it may be 
necessary to consider the adequacy of staff resources.

2.40 As at the end of October 2014, health boards retained responsibility for 878 of the 
1,606 claims they had received from 16 August 2010. Comprehensive data on the 
number of claims that health boards have closed (where a claimant is unable to 
provide proof of payment or proof of legal authority, or where they have decided 
to withdraw their application) is not readily available. However, the available data 
indicates that:

 a between 16 August 2010 and the end of October 2014, health boards reviewed 
254 claims and closed a further 225 claims; and

 b as at the end of October 2014, 399 claims had a review outstanding, of 
which health boards were preparing to close 92 claims due to lack of proof of 
payment or proof of legal authority.

2.41 Based on the October 2014 performance report data, we have analysed the 
number of claims outstanding and the number of claims reviewed since March 
2014 (Figure 9); together with data on the number of claims completed in the  
19 months to the end of July 2014 that we gathered directly from health boards. 
We have not reviewed progress since the end of October 2014, but we understand 
that whilst claims continue to be reviewed and completed, there has been no step 
change in the rate of progress. We acknowledge that delays in processing can 
occur due to a slow response from individuals or their representatives to requests 
for information. Nevertheless, the number of claims completed and reviewed 
by each health board has varied, and some have made significant inroads into 
the backlog of claims. For example, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, 
which has allocated the most staff resources to processing claims, is on top of 
its retrospective claims. However, performance in two health boards has been 
particularly unsatisfactory.

Pack Page 41



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report40

2.42 Cwm Taf University Health Board has only reviewed eight of 75 claims it has 
received since 16 August 201022. As at the end of October 2014, the health board 
had 32 claims that it had received between two and four years earlier but which 
they were still to review. The health board has not concluded any review in the 
eight months to the end of October 2014, and did not complete any claims in 
the 19 months to July 2014. It has taken the health board up until the summer 
of 2014 to appoint its first dedicated member of staff to deal with retrospective 
claims. Compared to other health boards which have received similar numbers of 
claims, Cwm Taf University Health Board continues to allocate relatively few staff 
resources to retrospective claims.

22 The health board told us that it has been taking an additional step (seeking individuals’ comments on the chronology of the case) 
before the actual review of the case was undertaken. This is likely, therefore, to extend the time taken to complete the review phase. 
The Framework does not require this step, and the health board stopped this practice in December 2014. 

Health board Claims 
passed to 
the Powys 

Project

Claims retained 
by health boards 

with a review 
outstanding (start 

of March 2014)1

Reviews 
completed 

(March to end 
October 2014)

Claims with 
a review 

outstanding 
as at end 

October 2014

Abertawe Bro Morgannwg 93 90 142 76

Aneurin Bevan 107 138 37 101

Betsi Cadwaladr 317 13 3 10

Cardiff and Vale 76 33 18 15

Cwm Taf 61 60 0 60

Hywel Dda 62 60 21 39

Powys 12 11 5 6

Total 728 405 98 307

Figure 9 – Claims reviewed and outstanding by health board (March to October 2014)

Notes: 
1 Claims with a review outstanding exclude cases that were closed or that were about to be closed. 
2 Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board informed us that the actual number of reviews undertaken between March and the 

end of October 2014 was 21, rather than the 14 reported centrally.

Source: Performance report for the national task and finish group, November 2014

Pack Page 42



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 41

23 Based on the number of reviews undertaken between March and October 2014.

2.43 Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board has received the most claims in Wales, 
but has made very little progress with these over the years. The Auditor General’s 
June 2013 report highlighted the poor progress that the health board had made 
at that time. By September 2014, the health board had marginally increased the 
staff allocated to dealing with retrospectives (increasing from 2.0 to 2.4 whole-time 
equivalent staff reflecting increased administrative and management support). 
The poor performance of the health board has continued, with only three claims 
reviewed between March and October 2014, and with only nine claims completed 
in the 19 months to July 2014. The health board’s inability to deal with claims in a 
timely way led to the Powys Project agreeing, at the request of the health board, 
to take over virtually all outstanding claims – 317 claims were passed over with the 
health board retaining just 10 recent claims to process itself.

Health boards have already missed the two-year processing deadline for a 
significant number of retrospective claims, plans to review longstanding claims 
by the end of December 2014 will not be met, and many more claims are likely to 
breach the two-year deadline 

2.44 The performance report provides details of the progress made since March 2014 
with 223 longstanding cases relating to claims received between 16 August 2010 
and 15 August 2012. However, the number of longstanding claims that health 
boards have received is likely to be greater than reported. Health boards exclude 
from the figures longstanding cases in which they have only recently requested and 
received proof of payment or proof of legal authority (see paragraphs 2.49 to 2.52). 

2.45 A significant number of the reported longstanding claims will have already 
breached the two-year deadline. In September 2014, health boards reported 
that they had reviewed 87 of the 223 longstanding claims. Based on the date of 
submission, the remaining 136 claims will therefore have breached the  
two-year deadline. A significant proportion of the 87 reviewed cases may also have 
breached the deadline, although data is not available to quantify the numbers 
involved (Figure 6).

2.46 Health boards set themselves a target of reviewing all the reported longstanding 
claims by the end of December 2014. However, the November 2014 performance 
report concludes that, at an all-Wales level, health boards will miss this target. 
Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board has passed all of its longstanding cases 
to the Powys Project, which will also not undertake all the reviews by the end of 
December 2014 (paragraphs 2.34 to 2.35). The monthly review rates23 suggest 
that four health boards (Hywel Dda, Powys, Cardiff and Vale, and Aneurin Bevan) 
are likely to miss the December 2014 deadline, but by only a month or two. The 
two other health boards are likely to miss the end of December 2014 target by a 
considerable number of months:

Pack Page 43



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report42

 a it is likely to take Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board until the 
end of May 2015 to undertake all its longstanding reviews; and

 b there is no data available on which to project when the relevant 34 reviews 
at Cwm Taf University Health Board will be reviewed, but if the health board 
achieved the average review rate across all health boards it would take until 
March 2016 to undertake all the longstanding reviews. 

2.47 We have also examined how long it might take, at current rates, for health  
boards to review all of the 307 outstanding claims that they remain responsible  
for (Figure 10). Our projection is that Powys Teaching Health Board, with relatively 
few claims, and Cardiff and Vale and Hywel Dda University Health Boards will 
undertake all their reviews within a year or shortly after. Four health boards will 
take around two years or more to review all outstanding claims, and a number of 
breaches of the two-year deadline are therefore likely.

2.48 Health boards will soon be faced with retrospective claims with differing  
maximum processing times of two years, one year, or six months. Health boards 
will need to closely monitor and manage these cases, and avoid the risk that more 
recent claims with a shorter processing deadline do not take precedence over 
longer-standing claims.

Figure 10 – Projected timescales for health boards to review all outstanding cases 
received between 16 August 2010 and the end of October 20141

0 6 12 18 24 30 36
Months

ABMU²

Aneurin Bevan

BCU

C&V

Cwm Taf

Hywel Dda

Powys

Notes:
1 Analysis excludes the 92 claims health boards were preparing to close at that time. The projections used in this table are based on the number 

of reviews undertaken as reported by each health board for the eight-month period March to October 2014. Cwm Taf projection based on 
achieving the average review rate of two claims per month. 

2 Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board projection is based on 21 reviews being undertaken in this period as reported to us and not 
the 14 reviews as detailed in the November performance report (Figure 9).

Source: Wales Audit Office analysis of data from November 2014 performance report for national task and finish group

Pack Page 44



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 43

Some health boards have not always requested proof of payment and proof 
of legal authority promptly on receiving a claim and the approach taken to 
processing these claims can be unreasonable to the individuals 

2.49 Welsh Government guidance states that health boards should base the deadline 
for reviewing a claim, and therefore its breach date, on the date that it receives 
proof of payment and proof of legal authority. This is important, as the breach 
date could be used to determine the priority given to processing a claim. Health 
boards are applying this guidance to longstanding claims that they have only 
recently requested proof of payment and proof of legal authority from the claimant. 
This is, in our view, unreasonable. It results, through no fault of the claimant, in 
longstanding claims having a similar or longer breach date than far more recent 
claims. One health board informed us that once it receives the proof of payment,  
it gives priority to claims based on the date the claim was submitted rather than the 
breach date. The position in other health boards is unclear.

2.50 For example, if a claim submitted in 2011 only had proof of payment or proof of 
legal authority requested and provided in 2014, then a breach date would be in 
2016. However, a claim received in 2014 with all the necessary evidence (claims 
since August 2014 are now required to be submitted with proof of payment and 
proof of legal authority), would have a breach date in 2015, a year earlier than the 
longstanding claim (claims received after August 2014 are to be reviewed within  
12 months).

2.51 By applying the guidance to this type of case, health boards are giving themselves 
a better chance of meeting the two-year deadline for reviewing cases; and have 
reduced the number of longstanding claims that they intended to review by the end 
of December 2014. 

2.52 The Auditor General’s June 2013 report found that health boards on receiving 
proof of payment had not always checked its adequacy, and that on processing the 
claim many years later were not then accepting the original evidence. Given the 
substantial passage of time that may have elapsed since the claimant supplied the 
original proof of payment, it could be difficult or impossible for some claimants to 
find and provide the additional evidence required. 

2.53 In response, and following discussions with the Public Service Ombudsman for 
Wales, the Welsh Government issued supplementary guidance in December 
2013 on proof of payment. The guidance outlined that claimants should not be 
disadvantaged by their inability to provide further proof of payment, which they 
were not made aware of at the outset of their claim. The guidance outlines that 
health boards should reimburse the claimant where there is evidence that the 
individual was resident in a care home for the period of eligibility; and where there 
is no evidence that any public body or agency paid the fees. 

Pack Page 45



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report44

2.54 The guidance was limited to those cases that the Powys Project was dealing with, 
namely cases received up to 15 August 2010 (these had a claim period between 
1996 and 15 August 2010). However, a number of the cases received from 16 
August 2010 may also have a claim period that could go back as far as 2003. 
As health boards have not always requested or checked proof of payment at the 
outset then individuals will be similarly disadvantaged. The number of such cases 
is not readily available from health boards. We have discussed this anomaly with 
the Welsh Government, who is considering extending the supplementary guidance 
to similar claims received from 16 August 2010. 

Pack Page 46



Part 3

Public information on CHC has been 
expanded but needs to be more 
accessible, there were weaknesses in 
the publicity of the July 2014 cut-off for 
some retrospective claims, and access 
to advocacy services remains a concern 
for some health boards

Pack Page 47



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report46

The Welsh Government has developed a range of information 
leaflets, but could do more to publicise them and make them 
more accessible
3.1 The Auditor General’s June 2013 report highlighted a number of concerns about 

health boards’ communication and engagement with individuals and their families 
about CHC. The Public Accounts Committee expressed similar concerns about 
the engagement with individuals and their families in the assessment process and 
about a lack of public awareness about CHC. The Welsh Government accepted the 
Committee’s recommendations, stating that there would be revised guidance and 
that it would make available a range of plain language public information leaflets 
through health boards and on a website from June 2014. 

3.2 One of the seven key messages detailed in the revised CHC Framework is that 
‘individuals and their families/representatives must be fully involved and informed 
throughout the assessment process’. The Framework then reflects this key 
message through, for example, specifying that:

 a health boards have a responsibility to make available national information 
leaflets to individuals and their families;

 b involving individuals and their families in the assessment and care planning 
process is not an optional extra, and that there should be ‘no decisions about 
me without me’; and

 c health boards must provide the individual and their family/representative with a 
summary of the decision on eligibility, which includes a clear rationale, setting 
out the reasons why the decision has been reached.

3.3 However, producing clear and simple communication with the public over 
retrospective claims has become more complicated given the different claim 
periods, cut-offs for making a claim, and deadlines for the NHS to complete claims 
processing (Appendix 1). The Welsh Government had made available three 
information leaflets relating to CHC and the assessment process (including  
easy-read versions of each leaflet), and a further three leaflets on retrospective 
claims (Figure 11).

3.4 The Welsh Government has clearly taken steps to improve the information that 
is available to the public, and the leaflets are available on the complex care 
information and support site (www.cciss.org.uk). However, all of these information 
leaflets are designed to be accessed once an individual is ‘in the system’. There is 
no general information widely available, for example in care homes, to raise public 
awareness of CHC and to help the public to be proactive. We believe that the aim 
should be that anyone in, or about to go into, a care home should be made aware 
of CHC and funded nursing care. Also more could be done to publicise the website 
– only one of the six leaflets contain details of the website, although another 
does contain a link to the Welsh Government website which contains other CHC 
information leaflets.  

Pack Page 48



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 47

Figure 11 – Welsh Government information leaflets – CHC for adults

Title When the leaflet is intended to 
be given out

What it covers 

Public information leaflet When NHS staff seek the 
individual’s consent to start 
arranging the CHC assessment.

CHC and funded nursing care eligibility, consent 
and assessment process, and what to do if the 
individual is not happy with the assessment 
outcome.

Preparing you for a CHC 
eligibility meeting

When NHS staff invite the individual 
to the multidisciplinary team to 
discuss needs and determine 
eligibility.

How to prepare for the meeting, where the 
meeting will take place, who will be there, the 
role of the individual at the meeting, what will 
happen at the meeting, next steps and rights if 
the individual disagrees with the decision. 

What receiving  
CHC-funded services 
means for you

When NHS staff plan care after the 
individual is found eligible for CHC.

What CHC is and why the individual is receiving 
a care package, review process and what 
happens if the individual is no longer found to 
be eligible.

Cut-off dates for 
assessment of eligibility 
for cases during the period 
1 April 2003 to 31 July 
2014 – Frequently asked 
questions

On request or when registering an 
intent to make a retrospective claim.

Details of the July 2014 cut-off date for 
retrospective claims including details of the 
process and expected time to process a claim.

CHC retrospective claims 
– claimant information 
leaflet and request for 
information

After the individual has registered 
their intent to make a retrospective 
claim.

Details of the retrospective claims process, 
details of CHC and funded nursing care 
including case studies demonstrating eligibility, 
and next steps.

CHC retrospective claims 
for reimbursement, 
frequently asked 
questions, November 2014

On request or when registering an 
intent to make a retrospective claim.

Details of CHC, who may be eligible, when and 
how to make a claim, deadlines for submission 
and processing.

Source: Wales Audit Office review of information leaflets

Pack Page 49



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report48

Although the Welsh Government issued various 
communications itself, the action taken by health boards to 
publicise the end of July 2014 cut-off for some retrospective 
claims appears to have been inconsistent 
3.5 Age Cymru has criticised the way the end of July 2014 cut-off date for some 

retrospective claims was publicised. The Welsh Government informed us that it 
took the following range of steps to publicise the July 2014 cut-off date:

 a issuing a press release on 30 April 2014; 

 b sending an email on 1 May 2014 to health boards, local authorities, user 
representative bodies, third sector and care home providers, together with 
bilingual posters and leaflets – this led to some organisations such as the 
Citizen’s Advice Bureau and Age Cymru publicising the cut-off on their 
websites; 

 c re-issuing the email on 18 June 2014 because of the lower-than-expected 
receipt of claims;

 d making available leaflets via the national retrospective helpline24, and via 
the national retrospective website which was signposted from the Welsh 
Government and other health board websites;

 e publicising via Twitter and requesting that health boards do the same; and 

 f placing adverts in 12 local newspapers during the week beginning 30 June 
2014.

3.6  The Welsh Government asked health boards to distribute the poster as widely 
as possible. However, the steps taken by health boards varied significantly. 
Information gathered by the Welsh Government indicates that Hywel Dda and 
Aneurin Bevan Health Boards had the most comprehensive distribution covering 
a broad range of locations. Hywel Dda reported distribution to GP surgeries, main 
and community hospitals, residential and nursing homes, libraries, leisure centres, 
local authorities, and local third sector organisations. Aneurin Bevan reported very 
similar distribution points as well as to the main town supermarkets. In contrast, 
Abertawe Bro Morgannwg and Betsi Cadwaladr Health Boards only distributed to 
hospitals and GP practices or community venues. The extent to which posters were 
then prominently displayed is not clear. 

3.7 There is a further deadline of the 1 October 2015 for any case with a claim period 
of 1 August 2013 to 30 September 2014. For claim periods from 1 October 2014, 
there is now a rolling cut-off. These cut-offs are covered in the leaflet Retrospective 
Claims for Reimbursement, Frequently Asked Questions, November 2014. 

24 The Powys Project operates and advertises a helpline for claimants and potential claimants.
Pack Page 50



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 49

Some health boards remain concerned about the availability 
and funding of CHC advocacy services
3.8 The Auditor General’s June 2013 report highlighted gaps in the availability of 

advocacy services. The revised Framework states that health boards and local 
authorities should make individuals aware of local advocacy services that may be 
able to offer advice and support. The Framework also states that health boards 
need to consider the adequacy of advocacy services for those who are eligible 
or potentially eligible for CHC, and whether any action is needed to address any 
shortfalls. 

3.9 In response to our survey, three of the seven health boards raised advocacy 
services as a concern, pointing to an inadequate level of local provision and  
to uncertainty about the prospect of securing funding to expand services.  
Concerns also related to the expertise in CHC of those offering advocacy  
services, although the Welsh Government’s view is that the role of an advocate is 
to help the individual express their views and not to provide expert advice.  
The Welsh Government also told us that:

 a advocacy can be provided in various forms, and that the annual sample audit 
indicated that in many cases, family members or carers act as advocates; 

 b the role of the Care Co-ordinator in improving communication and engagement 
with individuals and their families may also limit any increased demand for 
advocacy; 

 c it had also worked with advocacy groups to gather information on the available 
services, and to clarify their role with CHC which will be reinforced in a 
‘Practitioners Frequently Asked Questions’ document to be published early in 
2015; and 

 d it held a national training day for advocates in the autumn of 2014 and that 
officials have presented at several advocacy network meetings.

Pack Page 51



Appendices

Appendix 1 - Summary of arrangements 
for dealing with 
retrospective claims

Appendix 2 - Action taken in response to 
the main recommendations 
made by the Auditor 
General and the Public 
Accounts Committee

Appendix 3 - Audit methods

Pack Page 52



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 51

This summary relates to claims received from 16 August 2010. The Powys Project is 
responsible for all claims submitted before this period and was tasked with completing 
these claims by June 2014.

Appendix 1 - Summary of arrangements for 
dealing with retrospective claims

Period which the 
claim relates to

Deadline for 
registering a claim

Deadline for processing 
a claim

Who is responsible for 
processing

1 April 2003 to 31 
July 2013

31 July 2014 The revised Framework 
states that backlog ‘claims 
should take no longer than 
two years to process’.

The Powys Project is 
responsible for the majority 
of claims – largely those 
received between 16 August 
2012 and 15 August 2013; 
and 1 May 2014 and 31 July 
2014. 
Health boards are responsible 
for all other claims.

1 August 2013 to 30 
September 2014

1 October 2015 
(to include proof of 
payment, proof of legal 
authority) 

The revised Framework 
states that ‘these claims 
should normally be resolved 
within 12 months of receipt’. 

Health boards

1 October 2014 
onwards

Rolling cut-off with a 
claim period no longer 
than 12 months from 
the date of application

The revised Framework 
states that ‘the resolution 
of claims  submitted after 
1st October 2014 … should 
normally be achieved within 
six months’.

Health boards

Source: Welsh Government, Continuing NHS Healthcare National Framework for Implementation in Wales, June 2014 

Pack Page 53



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report52

We have brought together issues and recommendations from both the Auditor General 
and Public Accounts Committee reports in this appendix. These are summarised under 
the main sections of this report, and are cross referenced to the relevant paragraphs.

Appendix 2 - Action taken in response to the 
main recommendations made by the Auditor 
General and the Public Accounts Committee

Recommendation Summary of action taken by the Welsh Government and 
health boards

Improving the Framework, leadership and oversight

The Auditor General’s report identified 
opportunities for making the former Framework 
clearer or more explicit; for addressing gaps in 
its coverage; and for ensuring that guidance is 
realistic and deliverable. 

These have, in the main, been addressed by the new Framework 
(paragraphs 1.1 to 1.2).

To ensure that national policy and guidance 
supports consistency and fairness, the Welsh 
Government was recommended to:
• reconsider the benefits of introducing a 

screening tool to determine whether someone 
requires a CHC assessment; 

• review the differences between the decision 
support tool domains in Wales and England, 
particularly for cognition, to confirm that the 
Welsh domains are reasonable; and

• work with health boards to develop national 
protocols and documentation, and encourage 
greater sharing of local policies and 
documentation between health boards.

The Welsh Government has considered adopting a screening tool, 
but under the revised Framework, its use is left to the discretion of 
health boards (paragraphs 1.5 to 1.6).
The revised Framework adopts the decision support tool 
(paragraphs 1.7 to 1.10).
A range of materials and good practice examples are now available 
via the complex care information and support website (paragraphs 
1.3 to 1.4).

The Committee recommended that the Welsh 
Government assessed the impact of amending the 
decision support tool upon those people scored 
under the previous decision support tool – this was 
to establish whether individuals might have been 
disadvantaged and therefore potentially able to 
make a retrospective claim.

An initial assessment of the impact of the decision support tool 
has been undertaken, but the full impact will take time to establish 
(paragraphs 1.8 to 1.9).

Pack Page 54



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 53

Recommendation Summary of action taken by the Welsh Government and 
health boards

The Committee and Auditor General’s 
recommendations to strengthen leadership and 
governance, nationally and within health boards, 
involved the Welsh Government:
• strengthening its strategic oversight of the CHC 

Framework;
• requiring health boards to allocate overall 

responsibility for CHC at board director 
level, with specific responsibility for ensuring 
consistency in the Framework’s application 
across the health board, the adequacy of staff 
resources allocated to CHC, and effective joint 
working with social services;

• monitoring progress with the provision of 
training to practitioners and professionals in this 
area to ensure that this leads to improvement;

• requiring health boards to establish peer review 
arrangements of the processes and decision 
making around CHC eligibility, and a means of 
sharing the learning from peer reviews;

• requiring health boards to complete and action 
the self-assessment and improvement checklist 
developed by the Wales Audit Office; and

• monitoring peer review and self-assessment 
processes to ensure they are achieving their 
intended outcome.

A Performance Framework for CHC (paragraphs 1.14 to 1.17) and 
revised health board governance and accountability arrangements 
(paragraphs 1.21 to 1.22) have been agreed.
As required by the Welsh Government, all health boards have 
agreed an executive lead (paragraphs 1.11 to 1.12). 
The Performance Framework includes reporting of numbers of 
staff receiving training in the revised Framework (paragraph 1.27). 
Substantial numbers of NHS Wales staff have received training in 
the revised Framework although there is considerable variation in 
attendance levels across health boards (paragraphs 1.26 to 1.27).
An annual sample audit is part of the Performance Framework 
and results are to be disseminated in writing and at an annual 
conference (paragraphs 1.17 to 1.18). The first annual sample audit 
was undertaken in October 2014.
The Performance Framework requires health boards to complete 
an annual self –assessment using the Wales Audit Office template 
(paragraphs 1.15 to 1.16). The first self-assessments were carried 
out in February 2014.
The Welsh Government co-ordinates and is responsible for writing 
up the results of the annual sample audit (paragraph 1.17) and 
receives the self-assessments undertaken by health boards 
(paragraph 1.15).

Retrospective claims

The Auditor General’s report recommended that 
the Welsh Government set a deadline for the 
completion of all retrospective claims that health 
boards were processing; and the view of the 
Committee was that all claims should be dealt with 
within a maximum of two years.

The revised Framework sets deadlines for the submission of all 
claims and for the maximum length of time the NHS should take 
to process the claim which varies from two years to six months 
depending upon the date the claim is made (paragraphs 2.3 to 2.6).

The Auditor General’s report recommended that 
the Welsh Government establish a task and 
finish group with executive-level representation 
from across all health boards and chaired by a 
health board chief executive, to ensure that all 
retrospective cases, whether these are being 
handled by the Powys Project or individual health 
boards, are processed efficiently and to the set 
deadlines.

An executive task and finish group has been set up, but there are 
problems with membership and attendance levels (paragraphs 2.14 
to 2.15). The performance monitoring developed by the task and 
finish group is inadequate (paragraphs 2.17 to 2.21).

Pack Page 55



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report54

Recommendation Summary of action taken by the Welsh Government and 
health boards

The Committee was concerned about the 
arrangements for retrospective claims received 
after August 2010, and recommended that:
• the Welsh Government either developed a 

coherent plan for clearing the backlog of cases, 
or gives further consideration to whether the 
national project should deal with these; and 

• that the national project was not disbanded until 
the backlog of all claims was cleared.

Some health boards have not demonstrated ability to deal in a 
timely way with the retrospective claims that they are responsible 
for (paragraphs 2.38 to 2.48).
The Powys Project faces an even greater challenge in processing 
its share of claims received after 16 August 2010 (paragraphs 2.32 
to 2.37).

The Auditor General’s report recommended that the 
Welsh Government worked with health boards to 
agree a detailed and common approach to dealing 
with the retrospective cases being processed by 
health boards, and ensured the approach was 
broadly in line with the approach adopted by the 
Powys Project team.

The new Framework outlines the process to be followed across 
health boards, and this is based on the Powys Project approach 
(paragraph 2.1). The annual audit sample includes retrospective 
cases, and the first audit found that most health boards were 
following the correct processes (paragraph 1.17).

The Auditor General’s report identified a significant 
risk that the national project would not clear all 
retrospective claims by the agreed deadline. 
The Committee recommended that the Welsh 
Government reviewed whether staffing levels were 
adequate and considered whether steps could 
be taken to improving staff retention in the Powys 
Project team.

The Powys Project reviewed as intended all claims by the June 
2014 deadline, but did not complete 155 of the 2,525 claims 
(paragraphs 2.22 to 2.23). The long-term funding of the Powys 
Project has not yet been secured (paragraphs 2.36 to 2.37). 

Communication and engagement with individuals and their families

The Committee had a number of misgivings about 
the current approach to engaging individuals and 
their families in the assessment process, and 
recommended that:
• a proactive approach was needed to ensure 

information is provided to those who need 
it, enabling them to challenge decisions on 
eligibility; and 

• information should be clear and simple.

An expanded range of public information leaflets has been 
developed, although these could be better publicised. The 
complicated arrangements for cut-off dates and responsibility for 
processing claims is confusing (paragraph 3.3). Information is not 
readily available to the public unless they are being assessed for 
CHC (paragraph 3.4). 

Pack Page 56



Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report 55

We have gathered evidence for the follow-up review from a variety of sources. These 
included collating data from the Welsh Government, health boards, and the Powys 
Project; a review of the revised Framework together with a range of supporting 
documents; and interviews with Welsh Government officials, the Powys Project director, 
the health board national director for complex care, and staff from Cwm Taf Health Board. 

We also undertook a short survey of all health boards that gathered information on the 
progress with completing retrospective claims, the level of staff allocated to processing 
retrospective claims, and on any issues or concerns with implementing the revised 
Framework. 

As this is a follow-up review, we have relied heavily upon readily available performance 
information, which proved on a number of occasions not to be as robust or 
comprehensive as we would expect. The extent of our fieldwork has been more limited 
than was the case for the full review as reported in June 2013, with, for example, a far 
more limited range of interviews and no case file reviews.

Appendix 3 - Audit methods

Pack Page 57



Wales Audit Office

24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff CF11 9LJ

Tel: 029 2032 0500

Fax: 029 2032 0600

Textphone: 029 2032 0660

E-mail: info@wao.gov.uk

Website: www.wao.gov.uk

Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru

24 Heol y Gadeirlan

Caerdydd CF11 9LJ

Ffôn: 029 2032 0500

Ffacs: 029 2032 0600

Ffôn Testun: 029 2032 0660

E-bost: info@wao.gov.uk

Gwefan: www.wao.gov.uk

Pack Page 58



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 59

By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42



Public Accounts Committee, PAC(4)-04-15 Paper 3 

 

Yr Adran Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol  
Cyfarwyddwr Cyffredinol a Prif Weithredwr, GIG Cymru 
 
Department for Health and Social Services  
Director General and Chief Executive, NHS Wales 
 

 

 

 
Parc Cathays ● Cathays Park 

Caerdydd ● Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ  

 
Ffôn  ● Tel 02920 801182/1144 

Andrew.Goodall@wales.gsi.gov.uk 
 

Gwefan ● website: www.wales.gov.uk 

 

 
 
 
Darren Millar AM 
Chair of the Public Accounts Committee 
National Assembly for Wales. 
 
 

Our Ref: AG/LC/TLT 
 

27 January 2015 
 
Dear Darren 
 
Implementation of the Framework for Continuing NHS Healthcare in Wales 
 
I thought it would be helpful, in advance of the Public Accounts Committee session on 3 
February 2015 on Continuing NHS Healthcare (CHC), to set out the actions undertaken by 
Welsh Government. 
 

Revision of the Framework 

The revised Framework was published on 30th June 2014, and we provided a copy for 
Public Accounts Committee members on 2nd July. 

The revisions to the 2014 Framework were informed by a wide range of stakeholders 
including service users, CHC nursing leads from Local Health Boards (LHBs), the Wales 
Audit Office and Public Service Ombudsman for Wales.  The engagement process involved 
over 100 stakeholders participating in 10 Task & Finish Groups, in addition to the formal 
consultation process which took place between December 2013 and March 2014.  
 
Training and Support  
 
A comprehensive training programme has been developed in collaboration with health and 
social care practitioners and managers across Wales. Two modules have already been 
delivered to approximately 3,000 staff.  
 
In response to feedback received from frontline practitioners, the Complex Care Information 
& Support Site http://www.cciss.org.uk/home has been developed to support 
implementation of the revised Framework. 
 
 

Pack Page 68

Agenda Item 5

http://www.cciss.org.uk/home


 
Leadership & Governance 
 
We recognised the importance of strengthening strategic oversight and, with NHS Wales, 
have developed a Governance and Accountability Framework that will ensure that progress 
is maintained and scrutinised going forward. 
 
We supported the establishment of a national Executive Task & Finish group to oversee the 
management of retrospective claims for CHC. Subsequent action has been taken to ensure 
delivery of outstanding Phase 2 claims. 
 
Performance Monitoring 
 
The national Performance Framework has been agreed with the Local Health Boards and 
its implementation will support continued improvement and shared learning. As part of that 
Performance Framework we have undertaken for the first time with NHS Wales, a national 
Sample Audit to examine compliance with Welsh Government guidance and consistency of 
decision making.  
 
The Baseline Report has been collated and improvement will be measured from this on an 
annual basis. We are committed to a transparent approach and the report will be available 
on the CCISS website. 
 
Public Information 
 
A key aim of the review of the CHC Framework was to make the process more user-friendly 
and focussed on the needs of the individual. To support improved communication we 
provided detailed guidance on the role of the Care Co-ordinator. We have developed and 
distributed a range of public information leaflets, which are also available in Easy Read 
formats. 
 
 
We believe we have demonstrated significant progress in the year since the Public 
Accounts Committee produced its report and have set the foundations on which we can 
build strategic oversight and performance going forward. 
 
However, we recognise that sustained effort is required to fully embed the changes we all 
wish see. We have welcomed the constructive manner in which the Wales Audit Office has 
developed and presented their findings. We accept the recommendations in the January 
2015 follow up report and Welsh Government’s initial response to these is set out in 
Annexe 1. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Dr Andrew Goodall 
 
 
 
 
 Pack Page 69



 
ANNEXE 1 

Recommendation 1 a) 
The Welsh Government monitors closely the quality of health boards’ self 
assessments, and quarterly and annual reports, requiring health boards to 
address any deficiencies. 

 
Accepted. The first baseline national performance report will be collated week commencing 
5 January 2015 and Welsh Government will ensure that, in compliance with the Framework, 
it will be copied into the reports submitted to LHB Boards on a quarterly basis thereafter. 
Welsh Government also expects that implementation of the agreed Governance Framework 
will support robust monitoring of performance, and that the National Complex Care Board 
will have a key role to play in addressing deficiencies.  
 

Recommendation 1 b)  

The Welsh Government ensures the recent annual audit sample is reported at an 
individual health board level requiring health boards to confirm the steps they 
are taking to address any issues or inconsistencies in their decision making on 
eligibility. 

 
Accepted. The nominated Executive Director and CHC Lead in each LHB have received an 
individual report of the audit findings and, having had time to consider the findings will be 
asked to respond as suggested in the report.  
 
Recommendation 1 c)  

The Welsh Government prioritises the development of the planned customer 
feedback mechanism. 
 

Accepted. Options are currently being considered by Welsh Government to determine the 
most appropriate mechanism for collating the feedback.  
 
Recommendation 1 d)  

The Welsh Government ensures that, following the end of the secondment to 
the role of the national policy and practice lead for CHC, it has appropriate 
internal capacity to deliver the Performance Framework. 

 
Accepted. This is currently being considered by senior managers in Welsh Government, 
who will ensure that there is sufficient internal capacity to deliver the performance 
framework.  
 
Recommendation 2 a) 

The Welsh Government requires all health boards to adopt a common claims 
register based on the Powys Project version, or as a minimum, confirms the 
core information that health boards should hold on local registers. 

 
Accepted. It has been agreed that outstanding Phase 2 claims will transfer to the Powys 
Project. It is logical that the Project’s claims register is adopted nationally and that the 
management of claims for which the LHBs are responsible going forward is monitored using 
the same format. 
 
 
 

Pack Page 70



 
Recommendation  2 b)  

 The Welsh Government outlines to health boards the key performance 
monitoring information they need to provide each month; this should 
include the number of claims that have, and are at risk of, breaching the 
processing deadlines and should cover all key steps in the claim process.  

 
Accepted. This will be addressed through 2a) as the Powys claims register captures the 
core data proposed. 
 
Recommendation 2 c)  

 The Welsh Government considers setting target times for completing, as 
well as reviewing, claims. 

 
Accepted. Officials are currently considering what those timescales should be and in doing 
so, will liaise with the Wales Audit Office and Public Services Ombudsman for Wales. 
 

Recommendation 3 a) 
The Welsh Government assures itself that individual health boards are 
allocating sufficient staff resources to enable processing deadlines to be met, 
and if this assurance is lacking, take additional steps, such as requiring the 
Powys Project to take over backlog claims from a health board 

 
Accepted. Health Boards have the responsibility for ensuring retrospective claims are 
managed in a timely manner. Welsh Government has provided additional resource and 
project support to facilitate progress. It is agreed that there is currently insufficient 
assurance that some individual health boards are allocating sufficient staff resources to 
meet their responsibilities. It has been agreed with the Health Board Chief Executives that 
the outstanding backlog of Phase 2 claims will transfer to the Powys Project.  
 
Recommendation 3 b)  

The Welsh Government satisfies itself that the long-term funding provided by 
health boards for the Powys Project is adequate, including for any additional 
claims taken over from health boards.  

 
Accepted. The Powys Project has produced a draft Business Case setting out the resource 
requirements for Phase 3, which Welsh Government will review.  
 
Recommendation 4 a) 

The Welsh Government issues guidance covering longstanding claims in 
which health boards have only recently asked for proof of payment to ensure 
health boards give appropriate priority to reviewing this type of claim. 

 
Accepted. Welsh Government will address this in its proposed extended guidance.  
 
Recommendation 4 b)  

The Welsh Government extends the guidance issued in December 2013 to 
similar claims received after 16 August 2010 to ensure claimants are not 
disadvantaged by their inability to provide further proof of payment, which they 
were not made aware of at the outset of their claim. 
 

Pack Page 71



Welsh Government will need to carefully consider extending this exemption more widely, 
balancing natural justice with the need for probity with public money.  
 
Recommendation 5 a)  

The Welsh Government requires health boards to make general information on 
CHC more widely available, for example through care homes. 

 
Accepted. Welsh Government agrees that information should be made widely available. 
2,000 copies of each of the three public information leaflets have been provided to every 
LHB but it is accepted that local distribution has varied. Welsh Government has recently 
obtained an additional supply of 7,000 public information leaflets and will take action to 
ensure there is consistency of distribution across Wales.  
 
Recommendation 5 b)  
The Welsh Government considers whether more needs to be done to publicise the 
rolling cut-off and the 1 October cut-off date for claims covering the period 1 August 
2013 to 30 September 2014. 
 
Accepted. The cut off date arrangements are explained in the Frequently Asked Questions 
leaflet. Officials are also considering the production of posters to raise public awareness. 
 
 

Pack Page 72



Public Accounts Committee 
PAC(4)-04-15 Paper 4

Pack Page 73

Agenda Item 6



Public Accounts Committee 
PAC(4)-04-15 Paper 4

Pack Page 74



Lesley Griffiths AC / AM 
Y Gweinidog Cymunedau a Threchu Tlodi 
Minister for Communities and Tackling Poverty 

Darren Millar AM 
Chair 
Public Accounts Committee 
National Assembly for Wales 
Ty Hywel 
CF991NA 

Darren.Millar@assembly.wales 

Llywodraeth Cymru 
Welsh Government 

cJ) January 2015 

Auditor General for Wales Report - Managing the Impact of Welfare Reform Changes 
on Social Housing Tenants in Wales 

Thank you for your letter of 8 January 2015, addressed to the Permanent Secretary. In view 
of the questions relating to Government policy raised by the Auditor General's report, I have 
decided on this occasion I should respond on behalf of the Welsh Government. 

All except one of the recommendations do not relate directly to the Welsh Government. 
Neither do we in Wales control the decisions which lie at the heart of the problems identified 
by the Auditor General. However, I do acknowledge the role Welsh Ministers have in 
providing leadership and support to Local Authorities and housing associations in mitigating 
the impacts of welfare reform to which I am deeply committed. 

Recommendation 6 is addressed to the Welsh Government. We understand some of the 
thinking behind it, however, initial consideration has identified some difficulties in terms of its 
practical implementation. It would be contrary to our current approach to performance 
management and our regulation of Registered Social Landlords, to set national service 
standards of this type. Our approach has become increasingly outcome focused and it is 
right for us to focus on the real difference being made, allowing landlords and their tenants 
flexibility in developing the mechanisms by which they are achieved. The Welsh 
Government does, of course, have a role to give guidance to landlords in developing local 
service standards and to help spread best practices with the aim of ensuring consistently 
good service in all areas. 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF991NA 

Wedi'i argraffu ar bapur wedi'j ailgylchu (100%) 

English Enquiry line 0845 010 3300 
Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg 0845 010 4400 

Correspondence. Lesley. Griffiths@wales.gsi .gov.uk 

Printed on 100% recycled paper 

Public Accounts Committee 
PAC(4)-04-15 Paper 5

Pack Page 75

Agenda Item 7



We are in discussion with the Welsh Local Government Association regarding what may be 
done to address the recommendation within this policy context. Protocols are being set up 
with Local Authorities which will achieve a consistent approach to discretionary housing 
payments and I have asked my officials for this recommendation to be examined as part of 
this work. Our up-dated Code of Guidance for Local Authorities on the Allocation of 
Accommodation and Homelessness, also references under-occupancy and priority for those 
wishing to down-size. Some variation in social landlords' performance is to be expected as 
local conditions vary. There is a role for tenants in scrutinising the performance of their 
landlord and this issue will be raised with the two representative bodies, Welsh Tenants and 
the Tenant Participation Advisory Service 

The remaining recommendations are for action by Local Authorities and the Social Rented 
Sector, including Community Housing Cymru. Since the commencement of the UK 
Government's welfare reforms, April 2011, the Welsh Government has been proactive in 
helping tenants cope with the impacts of the reforms and I am pleased the report report 
acknowledges this. Our action has included:-

a) Between April 2011 and March 2015, Welsh Government made available, through its 
Homeless Prevention Fund, approximately £3 million to support the work of Local 
Authorities and their partners to mitigate the impact of the welfare reform changes. 
Typically this enabled Local Authorities to work with landlords and tenants to address 
benefit shortfalls and secure affordable accommodation. The Auditor General's report 
states there has been a significant reduction in the availability of independent 
housing advice. I would not support this statement. Whilst there have been cuts in 
funding to organisations such as Shelter Cymru, reconfiguration has in fact extended 
the coverage of the advice service to an all-Wales level. 

b) In response to the recent cuts in funding for advice services, including Legal Aid, I 
have announced a further £2 million in 2014-15 to support, in the main, specialist 
advice on welfare benefits, housing, debt and discrimination. Some of the purpose of 
this funding is to increase people's income and, therefore, housing affordability and, 
where possible, to prevent homeless ness and secure temporary or permanent 
housing for people. The Welsh Government's Advice Services Review, subsequent 
Welsh Government engagement with the Independent Advice Providers Forum and 
relevant research reports have highlighted to us there is a growing need for advice 
services in these areas. However, as we have said all along, the Welsh Government 
will not be able to step in and fill all the gaps. With this in mind, I am establishing a 
National Advice Network which will provide strategic direction as we grapple with the 
difficult tension between rising demand and diminishing resources and will bring 
together key stakeholders to help inform the way forward. I am convinced part of the 
solution lies in greater collaboration and cross-referral between key organisations, for 
example between housing associations and independent advice providers. There is 
some excellent practice already out there and I see the Network having a role in 
disseminating such examples of effective practice more widely across Wales for the 
benefit of service users. 

c) In 2013/14, £20 million was invested through the Social Housing Grant Programme 
specifically for smaller one and two bedroom homes for individuals and families who 
may be adversely affected as a result of welfare reform. All Local Authorities 
benefitted from this funding which supported 32 schemes delivering approximately 
375 units. 

Pack Page 76



d) We are investing a further £20 million over the next 2 financial years (£5 million 
2014/15 and £15 million 2015/16) for smaller properties. Local Authorities have 
identified schemes with a grant requirement in excess of the combined £20 million 
allocation for 2014/15 and 2015/16. Full spend will be achieved and a reserve list is 
in place in case of slippage. 

e) The Welsh Government established a Task and Finish Group in July 2013 to 
consider the Impacts of Welfare Reforms on the Social Rented Sector. Membership 
comprised of a broad group of stakeholders from across Wales who could consider 
the impacts of welfare reforms, particularly the bedroom tax on social rented sector 
landlords and tenants. The purpose of the Group was to gather the evidence, 
consider and disseminate good practice. The report was published on the Welsh 
Government website 1. There were a total 12 recommendations and those specific to 
the Welsh Government have been accomplished. 

f) The Ministerial Task and Finish Group on Welfare Reform established a further 
working group in July 2014 to consider Direct payment of Housing Benefit in the 
Social Rented Sector and Sustainable Tenancies. I will be aiming to publish this 
report before the end of February 2015. 

g) Welsh Government supported Local Authorities by making £1.3 million available to 
supplement the money given to Local Authorities for discretionary housing payments 
by the UK Government. The main aims of the funding were: 

i. to help more tenants through the discretionary housing payments scheme; 
and 

il. for Local Authorities to consider a more holistic approach to how they 
administer the payments. 

h) The report, Evaluation of Additional Discretionary Housing Payments Funding 
provided by the Welsh Government to Local Authorities in Wales for 20131142 is 
available on the Welsh Government website. 

i) The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 will normalise more positive attitudes to the private 
renting by meeting the housing needs of homeless people through the sector. Social 
housing tenants affected by welfare reform will have the additional protection of 
higher standards assured by the safeguards in Part 1 of the Act. The Act also 
reinforces the duty of local authorities to prevent homelessness. 

1 http://wales.gov . u kltopics/housing-and-regeneration/welfare-reforrn/impacts-of -welfare-reforms-on-the-social
rented-sector/?lanq=en 
2 http://wales.gov.ukltopics/housing-and-regeneration/welfare-reTorm/evaluation-of-housing-payments
funding/?lang=en 

Pack Page 77



j) Through our revised Digital Inclusion Delivery Plan (published in June 2014), and our 
Digital Inclusion Programme, Communities 2.0, we are maKing good progress in 
getting more people to improve their lives through the use of digital technologies. 
However, we know certain groups like social housing tenants are still much more 
likely to be digitally excluded than the average population, due to lower incomes, 
qualifications and skills. Communities 2.0 helps individuals to overcome barriers, 
build confidence and create opportunities to use new skills. The programme has 
helped to support over 55,000 individuals to get online and have engaged numerous 
key stakeholder organisations to support the agenda. However, much more still 
needs to be done, and only a concerted effort across the private, third and public 
sectors can really achieve digital inclusion. We have worked closely with Housing 
Associations to support tenants to acquire basic internet skills and a number of 
Housing Associations have been lead partners in local Communities 2.0 funded 
'Get.. .County ... Online' initiatives. We are also working with Community Housing 
Cymru to help support the social housing sector to adopt sustainable affordable 
broadband solutions. There is scope, through our investment in our Superfast Cymru 
programme, to provide the baseline connectivity which can help enable affordable 
broadband projects to take place. Our Digital Inclusion Delivery Plan Update contains 
targets and actions to reduce digital exclusion amongst residents of Social Housing 
to 22% by 2017. 

k) Our Tackling Poverty Action Plan targets our resources to help people in our most 
deprived communities. The Lift Programme reflects the commitment in the Welsh 
Government's Tackling Poverty Action Plan to provide 5,000 training and 
employment opportunities to people from workless households by .the end of 2017. 
Among the commitments made to support the Programme, the Registered Social 
Landlords in Wales have undertaken to provide at least 1,000 opportunities for Lift 
participants over the lifetime of the Programme. As at 31 st December 2014 the 
programme has provided 1028 opportunities to people from workless households, 
including 178 people supported into employment. 

The report notes the inconsistent delivery by Councils and Associations, of lodging schemes 
or support for tenants to take in lodgers. Matters relating to sub-letting are set out in tenancy 
agreements for social housing. The report recognises the need for caution for tenants 
before taking in a lodger. I have asked my officials to work with the tenant representative 
organisations we support to consider what more could be done to ensure tenants are fully 
informed on the matter. We have reflected the subject of lodgers and the need to take 
advice, in the latest version of the Code of Guidance on Allocations and Homelessness 
which is about to be published for consultation. 

I am pleased to highlight the breadth of action Welsh Government is taking in response to 
mitigating the impact of welfare reform in Wales. 

Ri2cOfdo 

Pack Page 78



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 79

By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	2 Papers to note
	4 National Framework for Continuing NHS Healthcare: Briefing from the Wales Audit Office
	Continuing NHS Healthcare – Follow-up Report
	Contents
	Summary
	Recommendations
	Part 1
	The revised Framework addresses many of the issues raised and recommendations...
	Some important steps are being taken to strengthen leadership and oversight...

	Part 2
	The revised Framework outlines a common process for dealing with retrospective claims
	The Welsh Government has set deadlines for reviewing retrospective claims...
	The Powys Project reviewed as intended all claims received up to 15 August 2010...
	The responsibility for processing the substantial number of claims received since 16 August 2010...
	The Powys Project faces an even greater challenge in processing its share of the claims...
	Some health boards have not demonstrated that they are able to deal in a timely way with...

	Part 3
	The Welsh Government has developed a range of information leaflets...
	Although the Welsh Government issued various communications itself...
	Some health boards remain concerned about the availability and funding of CHC advocacy services

	Appendices
	Appendix 1 - Summary of arrangements for dealing with retrospective claims
	Appendix 2 - Action taken in response to the main recommendations...
	Appendix 3 - Audit methods

	PAC(4)-04-15 Paper 2 - Wales Audit Office Briefing

	5 National Framework for Continuing NHS Healthcare: Evidence Session 1
	6 Unscheduled Care: Update from Welsh Government
	7 Managing the Impact of Welfare Reform Changes: Consideration of Welsh Government Response
	PAC(4)-04-15 Paper 6 - Scoping Paper




